Aus dem Bereich Medizinische Biochemie und Molekularbiologie Theoretische Medizin und Biowissenschaften der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität des Saarlandes, Homburg/Saar

# The Effect of Lifespan Extending Mutations on Healthspan in Ames Dwarf Mice

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität des Saarlandes 2021



vorgelegt von: Denise Sarah Wiesenborn geb. am: 09.08.1986 in Rockenhausen

Tag der Promotion:	17. Januar 2022
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. Michael D. Menger
Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Gerald Thiel
	Prof. Dr. Karl-Herbert Schäfer
	Prof. Dr. Magali Madry

© 2021 Denise Sarah Wiesenborn

# **Table of Contents**

List of Figures	iii
List of Abbreviations	iv
Abstract	1
Zusammenfassung	3
1. Introduction	5
1.1 Aging	5
1.2 Models of Aging	6
1.3 Ames dwarf mice	7
1.4 Calorie Restriction	8
1.5 Insulin sensitivity in long-living Ames dwarf mice	10
1.6 The Gastrointestinal tract	12
1.7 The gut microbiota	15
1.8 Factors that affect the intestinal microbiota	16
1.9 Gut microbiota in health and aging	17
2. Specific Aims	19
Specific Aim 1: Determine the tissue-specific insulin action in long-living Arus using the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp technique.	mes dwarf mice 19
Specific Aim 2: Determine the impact of Prop1df lifespan extending mutatio of CR on development of gut microbiota.	n and the effect 19
3. Material and Methods	21
3.1 Approach	21
Specific Aim 1: Determine the tissue-specific insulin action in long-living Ar	mes dwarf mice
using the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp technique.	21
3.1.1 Research Design and Animals	
3.1.2 Hyperinsulinemic-Euglycemic Clamp	
3.1.3 Processing or plasma and ussues	
3.1.5 Statistical analysis	

	3.2 Approach	25
	Specific Aim 2: Determine the impact of Prop1df lifespan extending mutation and the ef of CR on development of gut microbiota. 3.2.1 Experimental Design of Ames dwarf mice. 3.2.2 Experimental Design of Calorie Restriction. 3.2.3 16S rDNA Amplification, Sequencing and Microbiome Analysis	fect 25 25 26 27
4.	Results	. 28
	4.1 Effects of whole-body insulin sensitivity in long-living Ames dwarf mice	28
	4.2 Long living GH-deficient df/df mice have a different microbiota composition	31
	4.3 Alterations in gut microbiota are not restricted to the colonic microbiome	37
	4.4 The vertical inheritance of microbiota in df/df mice	39
	4.5 The effects of Calorie restriction on bodyweight and on fasting blood glucose in N df/df mice	and 41
	4.6 Calorie restriction intervention changes the microbiota in df/df and N mice	43
5.	Discussion	49
	Insulin sensitivity in Ames dwarf mice	49
	Impact of Ames dwarfism and CR on gut microbiota	52
6.	Conclusions	56
7.	References	57
8.	Authors List of Publications	. 70
9.	Acknowledgement	. 71

# List of Figures

Figure 1 - Ames dwarf and Normal littermate control mouse at an age of two weeks
Figure 2 – Kaplan-Meier survival plot presenting long-living Ames dwarf (df/df) and normal littermate control (N) mice subjected life-long calorie restriction (30% CR) or fed ad libitum (AL). Figure taken from Bartke et al. (BARTKE et al., 2001b)
Figure 3 - The Gastrointestinal tract12
Figure 4 - Depiction of catheterized Ames dwarf (df/df) and normal (N) mice for the insulin clamp experiment
Figure 5 - A timeline of the procedures for setting up and performing the hyperinsulinemic- euglycemic clamp
Figure 6 - Insulin and glucose levels before and during clamp of N and df/df mice. N= 8 animals for each genotype. *P<0.05
Figure 7 - (A) Arterial glucose in long-living Ames dwarf (df/df) and normal (N) mice during insulin clamping. (B) Glucose Infusion Rate in N and df/df mice during insulin clamping. Each genotype contained n= 8 mice. * <i>P</i> <0.05
Figure 8 - EndoRa for normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice. Black bars present EndoRa under basal condition, while white bars represent insulin clamp
Figure 9 - Glucose metabolic index (Rg) during insulin clamps in different organs from normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice: (A) soleus, (B) gastrocnemius, (C) superficial vastus lateralis, (D) fat, (E) heart and (E) brain. n= 8 mice for each genotype. *P<0.0531
Figure 10 - The variability of the gut microbiota in N and df/df littermates is described through genetics and breeding pair
Figure 11 – Different microbiota composition in Ileum and Cecum in df/df mice
Figure 12 - The offspring of df/df mice demonstrates a genotype-associated composition of the microbiota41
Figure 13 - Bodyweight comparison of Normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice fed ad libitum (AL) or subjected to 30% calorie restriction (CR). Different letters indicate statistical significance
Figure 14 - Fasting blood glucose levels of Normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice fed ad libitum (AL) or subjected to 30% calorie restriction (CR). Different letters indicate statistical significance
Figure 15 - The gut microbiota composition in relation to calorie restriction in long-living df/df mutants and N littermate controls mice46
Figure 16 - The impact of Calorie Restriction on the gut microbiota in N and df/df mice48

# List of Abbreviations

AAALAC	Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory
	Animal Care
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AL	Ad Libitum
Ba(OH)2	Barium hydroxide
B/F	Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes
bp	base pair
C1	Collection 1
C2	Collection 2
C3	Collection 3
C4	Collection 4
CR	Calorie Restriction
CRON	Calorie Restriction with Optimal Nutrition
DA	Differential abundance
df/df	Ames dwarf
2-DG	2-Deoxyglucose
dL	deciliter
DNA	Desoxyribonucleic Acid
endoRa	Rate of endogenous glucose appearance
etc.	et cetera
F0	Parents (genotype mother: N/df; father: df/df)
F1	Offspring (genotypes: N and df/df)
Fig.	Figure
g	gram
GH	Growth Hormone
GHR	Growth Hormone Receptor
GHRH	Growth Hormone Releasing Hormone
GHRKO	Growth Hormone Receptor Knockout
GI	Gastrointestinal
GM	Gut Microbiome
GTT	Glucose Tolerance Test
h	Hour
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
i.e.	id est
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1

IGHD	Isolated growth hormone deficiency type 1B
IR	Insulin receptor
IRS1	Insulin receptor substrate-1
ITT	Insulin Tolerance Test
КОН	Potassium hydroxide
LDA	Linear discriminant analysis
LEfSe	Linear discriminant analysis Effect Size
mg	milligram
min.	Minute
ml	Milliliter
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin gene
Ν	Normal
n	Number
ng	Nanogram
NIA	National Institute on Aging
nm	Nanometer
NMDS	Non-metric multidimensional scaling
ob/ob	obese
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
Р	Parents
p-value	probability value
PCA	Perchloric acid
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PRL	Prolactin
Prop1 <sup>df/df</sup>	Prophet of pituitary factor 1 gene
Pit-1	Pituitary-specific transcription factor 1
PPE	Personal protective equipment
Ra	Rate of glucose appearance
Rd	Rate of glucose disappearance
RDP	Ribosomal Database Project
Rg	Glucose metabolic index
rRNA	ribosomal ribonucleic acid
S	seconds
spp.	several species
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
t	time

TSH	Thyroid-stimulating hormone
UCF	University of Central Florida
VS.	versus
ZnSO4	Zinc sulfate
μCi	Microcurie
μΙ	Microliter
%	Percent
°C	Degree Celsius

# Abstract

Ames dwarf (df/df) mice, exhibit a significant increase in longevity, and carry a homozygous and spontaneous mutation of the prophet of pituitary factor 1 gene (Prop1<sup>df/df</sup>), which inhibits the development of the anterior pituitary cells: somatotrophs, lactotrophs and thyrotropes. These mice, are therefore characterized by a growth hormone, prolactin and thyrotropin deficiency. Ames dwarf mice, are widely used as a valuable aging research model because they have a significantly longer (40-60%) and healthier lifespan compared to their normal (N) littermate controls. In addition to this extraordinary longevity, df/df mutants carry significant protection from the majority of age-related diseases including insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, diabetes, cancer or neurodegeneration. Ames dwarf mice exhibit decreased levels of fasting insulin and glucose as well as an improved glucose clearance measured by glucose tolerance test combined with a high sensitivity to injected insulin. These mutants have also shown to have enhanced insulin signaling in diverse insulin target organs. Importantly, insulin tolerance test (ITT), a measure of insulin sensitivity, showed that there is a positive correlation between insulin sensitivity and longevity. However, the basic ITT does not reveal insulin sensitivity in different insulin-responsive organs including skeletal muscle, adipose tissue as well as glucose regulation in the liver. To investigate this tissue-specific response, for the first time, the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study was performed in vivo in long-living df/df mice. These findings showed that in df/df mice the glucose infusion rate needed to be ~2-fold higher than in normal (N) control mice to maintain euglycemia at a rate of approximately 160 mg dL<sup>-1</sup>. This study presented that df/df mice had significantly greater uptake of glucose in the gastrocnemius and vastus muscles along with adipose tissue. More importantly, there was a pronounced hepatic response in df/df mice indicated by complete suppression of endogenous glucose production, while in N mice only 60% suppression was achieved during the clamp. In addition to the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study, the effects of Ames dwarfism mutation on gut microbiota development in df/df and N mice was also investigated. The gut microbiome was never studied before in these long-living dwarf mice, while there is an overall increasing interest in understanding gut microbiome in diverse diseases including diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, aging and many others. There is also strong evidence showing that the gut microbiome changes over the lifespan of an individual and might be related to development or protection from diverse age-related diseases. In this study, the changes in the gut microbiome of df/df and N mice were examined through a comparison of parents before mating and littermate mice at three different time points during early life development. Furthermore, as calorie restriction is shown to be an intervention that significantly enhances longevity in animal models, it was studied the effects of a 6-month calorie restricted (CR) diet on the microbiota. These results show that the gut microbiota

composition changes significantly with the aging process and it also demonstrates divergences in the abundance of several bacteria when comparing df/df mice with N littermates already during early life development. Overall, the gut microbiota showed significant differences in genotype, time-point and in the animal breeding pair when comparing df/df and N mice. Additionally, it was also demonstrated that CR causes significant changes in the gut microbiome when comparing different GI location (Distal Colon, Ileum and Cecum), genotypes and the diet. Overall, the effect of the genotype was more evident than the one of the diet. In conclusion, the results of the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study suggests that improved insulin sensitivity in various insulin responsive organs and enhancement in overall metabolic condition might promote prolonged life-span of Ames dwarf mice. In addition, these findings of the gut microbiota study indicated that the microbiota have significant impact during postnatal development in promoting longevity in df/df mice and that CR could also modulate longevity by altering gut microbiota. In summary, it can be said that both studies have shown potential novel longevity markers in Ames dwarf mice.

# Zusammenfassung

Ames dwarf (df/df) Mäuse weisen eine signifikant höhere Lebenserwartung auf und tragen eine homozygote und spontane Mutation des Gens, welches als prophet of pituitary factor 1 gene (*Prop1*<sup>df/df</sup>), bezeichnet wird. Aufgrund dessen gibt es keine Entwicklung der vorderen Somatotropin, Lactotropin und Thyreotropin produzierenden Hypophysenzellen. Diese Mäuse sind daher durch einen Mangel an Wachstumshormon, Prolaktin und Thyreotropin gekennzeichnet. Ames dwarf Mäuse werden häufig als wertvolles Forschungsmodell für das Altern verwendet, da sie im Vergleich zu ihren normalen (N) Wurfgeschwister-Kontrollen eine signifikant längere (40-60%) und gesündere Lebensdauer haben. Zusätzlich zu der verlängerten Lebensdauer sind die df/df-Mutanten auch vor den meisten altersbedingten Krankheiten wie Insulinresistenz, Metabolisches Syndrom, Diabetes, Krebs oder neurodegenerativen Erkrankungen geschützt. Ames dwarf Mäuse weisen einen verringerten Nüchterninsulin- und Glukosespiegel sowie eine verbesserte Glukose Freigabe auf. Letztere wurde durch einen Glukosetoleranztest und durch eine hohe Empfindlichkeit gegenüber injiziertem Insulin gemessen. Zusätzlich konnte gezeigt werden, dass diese Mutanten eine verstärkte Insulinsignalisierung in den verschiedenen Insulin-Zielorganen aufweisen. Der Insulintoleranztest (ITT), welcher ein Maß für die Insulinsensitivität ist, zeigte, dass eine positive Korrelation zwischen Insulinsensitivität und Langlebigkeit besteht. Allerdings zeigt der grundlegende ITT keine Insulinsensitivität in den verschiedenen auf Insulin ansprechenden Organen an. Betroffen sind hier der Skelettmuskel, das Fettgewebe sowie die Glukoseregulierung in der Leber. Um diese gewebespezifische Reaktion zu untersuchen, wurde zum ersten Mal die hyperinsulinämisch-euglykämische Clamp-Studie in vivo an langlebigen df/df-Mäusen durchgeführt. Diese Ergebnisse haben gezeigt, dass bei df/df-Mäusen die Glukoseinfusionsrate  $\sim$  2-fach höher sein musste als bei den normalen (N) Kontrollmäusen, um die Euglykämie bei gleicher Insulininfusion bei etwa 160 mg dL<sup>-1</sup> zu halten. Ebenfalls hat diese Studie gezeigt, dass df/df-Mäuse eine signifikant höhere Aufnahme von Glucose im Gastrocnemius- und Vastus-Muskel sowie im Fettgewebe aufwiesen. Noch wichtiger ist, dass bei df/df-Mäusen eine ausgeprägte Leberreaktion auftrat, die durch eine vollständige Unterdrückung der endogenen Glukose Produktion angezeigt wurde, während bei N-Mäusen nur eine Unterdrückung von 60% erreicht wurde. Zusätzlich zur hyperinsulinämisch-euglykämischen Clamp-Studie wurden auch die Auswirkungen der Ames dwarf Mutation auf die Entwicklung der Darmmikrobiota bei df/df- und N-Mäusen erforscht. Das Darmmikrobiom wurde noch nie zuvor bei diesen langlebigen Zwergmäusen untersucht, während das Interesse am Verständnis des Darmmikrobioms bei verschiedenen Krankheiten wie Diabetes, Herz-Kreislauf-Erkrankungen, Krebs, Altern und vielen anderen insgesamt zunimmt. Es gibt auch starke Hinweise darauf, dass sich das Darmmikrobiom im Laufe der Lebensdauer eines Individuums verändert und möglicherweise mit der Entwicklung oder dem Schutz vor verschiedenen altersbedingten Krankheiten zusammenhängt. In dieser Studie wurden die Veränderungen im Darmmikrobiom von df/df- und N-Mäusen durch einen Vergleich der Eltern vor der Paarung und der Wurfgeschwister zu drei verschiedenen Zeitpunkten während der frühen Lebensentwicklung untersucht. Da sich gezeigt hat, dass Kalorienreduzierung eine Intervention ist, die die Langlebigkeit in Tiermodellen signifikant verlängert, wurden die Auswirkungen einer 6-monatigen kalorienreduzierten (CR) Diät auf die Mikrobiota untersucht. Die Ergebnisse haben gezeigt, dass sich die Zusammensetzung der Darmmikrobiota mit dem Alterungsprozess signifikant verändert. Zusätzlich wurden Unterschiede in der Häufigkeit mehrerer Bakterienstämme zwischen df/df- und N-Mäusen bereits während der frühen Lebensentwicklung gezeigt. Insgesamt zeigte das Darmmikrobiom beim Vergleich von df/df- und N-Mäusen signifikante Unterschiede im Genotyp, Zeitpunkt und Brutpaar. Zusätzlich wurde gezeigt, dass CR signifikante Veränderungen im Darmmikrobiom verursacht, wenn die verschiedenen Bereiche innerhalb des Gastrointestinaltrakts (Distal Colon, lleum und Cecum), die Genotypen und auch die kalorienreduzierte Diät verglichen werden. Insgesamt war die Auswirkung innerhalb des Genotyps jedoch deutlicher zu sehen als die der Diät.

Zusammenfassend legen die Ergebnisse der hyperinsulinämisch-euglykämischen Clamp-Studie nahe, dass eine verbesserte Insulinsensitivität in den verschiedenen auf Insulin ansprechenden Organen sowie eine Verbesserung des gesamten Stoffwechsels, die verlängerte Lebensdauer von den Ames dwarf Mäusen fördern könnte. Darüber hinaus haben die Ergebnisse der Darmmikrobiota-Studie gezeigt, dass die Mikrobiota während der postnatalen Entwicklung eine wichtige Rolle bei der Förderung der Langlebigkeit bei df/df-Mäusen spielt und dass CR auch die Lebensdauer durch Veränderung der Darmmikrobiota modulieren könnte. Zusammenfassend kann gesagt werden, dass die beiden untersuchten Studien neue potenzielle Langlebigkeitsmarker bei Ames dwarf Mäusen gezeigt haben.

# 1. Introduction

### 1.1 Aging

Aging is an organism's progressive, biological and irreversible process, ending with death. This process is linked with a time-dependent progressive rise in disease vulnerability. Nearly all recognized organism's age. Despite the fact, that the maximum duration of life varies from one organism to another, the curve shape, which is also indicative of the organism's health, is extremely consistent throughout species (MITCHELL et al., 2015). Until the end of the 21st century, the proportion of human population over the age of 65 is expected to rise from about 7% to more than 20% worldwide (http://esa.un.org/wpp/). In response to this aging phenomenon, the elderly as well as the general population, have become extremely unhealthy, independent of a slight increase in life span of a small increase in life expectancy over the last decades (FREID et al., 2012). Because of this incoming unhealthy lifestyle and the rising elderly population, it is becoming increasingly more important to investigate factors that lead to a healthy aging. In recent decades, work into the root causes of aging has contributed to impressive developments, not just in comprehension of the mechanisms of aging but also in interventions that may improve life expectancy and, most significantly, healthspan (BARTKE, 2016). Model organisms, including C. Elegance, Drosophila, laboratory studied rodents and non-human primates have actually been at the frontline of this research and have provided riches of knowledge, helping us to decipher pathways that might regulate human aging. Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is one of the well-established modulators of aging, and its inhibition has been shown to extend life expectancy in flies, yeast as well as nematodes (HARRISON et al., 2009; JIA et al., 2004; KAEBERLEIN et al., 2005; KAPAHI et al., 2004; LAMMING et al., 2012). Model organisms are critical for aging studies, as ethical concerns, long natural life period, ecological impacts, genetic heterogeneity, and numerous other restricting elements complicate the use of human subjects in aging research. Excellent progress has been made after McCay's crucial reports on explaining the lifespan expansion of calorie restriction (CR) in rats (MCCAY et al., 1975). The maximum lifespan of an individual is driven by aging. There are many mutant or knockout animals which are characterized by an extended lifespan, providing valuable tools for studying the molecular mechanisms of aging. Based on previous research studies, growth hormone (GH) and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) are important hormones, which are involved in the regulation of aging and longevity (MASTERNAK, BARTKE, 2012). Throughout aging individuals are more vulnerable to agerelated diseases including diabetes, atherosclerosis, cancer, Alzheimer disease, osteoporosis, etc. along with a drastic decline in the immune system function and chronic conditions and triggering inflammatory processes (FRANCESCHI et al., 2000). Due to a global increase in the

population of the elderly over 65 years old, there is a rising interest in studying the mechanisms of aging with a focus on determining molecular and cellular processes that regulate aging, healthspan and lifespan. Several hypotheses have been developed during the decades of aging studies attempting to explain the aging phenomena, and two major theories were classified. The first theory is based on programmed aging and the second theory is called the wear and tear theory (JIN, 2010).

# 1.2 Models of Aging

Many aging models have been established which demonstrate that genes play an important role in extending life span. Due to their delayed aging, the Ames dwarf, Snell dwarf, and growth hormone (GH) knockout receptor (GHRKO) mice are the typical mouse models used for aging studies. Such strains demonstrate extraordinary longevity by alterations in the GH-pathway which leads to low-circulating IGF-1 (FLURKEY et al., 2001; HSIEH et al., 2002). Both Ames and Snell dwarf mice have a mutation due to a loss of function of the Prop-1 and Pit-1 genes which leads to a lifespan extension due to the resulting deficiencies in circulating levels of thyrotropin, prolactin, and GH (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004). Ames dwarf mice show a remarkably 40-60% increase of their longevity (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004). The Snell dwarf mice live up to 50% longer compared to their wild-type littermates (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004; FLURKEY et al., 2001). These mice reveal some of the features of CR, consisting of a lower body temperature (HUNTER et al., 1999), enhanced insulin sensitivity (HSIEH et al., 2002), improved antioxidant defenses (ROMANICK et al., 2004), and also a postponed onset of neoplasia (BARTKE et al., 2007; IKENO et al., 2003). These factors might play a major role for their enhanced lifespan. The GHRKO mouse was developed, by the targeted disruption of the GH receptor as well as GH-binding protein (FLURKEY et al., 2001). The amino acid sequence of the growth hormone-binding protein (GHBP) is the same as the extracellular constituent of the GH receptor component (GHR) (BAUMANN, 2002). Growth hormone (GH) signaling pathway disruption enhances the insulin sensitivity and is related to delayed aging and a prolonged longevity (GESING et al., 2017). GH receptor gene-disrupted knockouts (GHRKO) mice are actually defined through a reduced GH axis along with a significant reduction of body size as well as lowered plasma insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and also insulin levels (GESING et al., 2017). These mice are long-living and have a decrease in glucose, insulin, thyroid hormones, as well as in body temperature (FANG et al., 2020). All of these characteristics are similar to that observed in the df/df mice (HAUCK et al., 2001). The GHRKO mice reveal a comparable rise in life expectancy across males and females of 23% and 25%, respectively (FLURKEY et al., 2001). Decreased levels of glucose,

insulin and thyroid hormones, as well as reduced body temperature might be very important to the fundamental mechanisms of delayed aging in these animals. Surprisingly, GHRKO mice are obese, yet are sensitive to insulin (FLURKEY et al., 2001), which is paradoxically contrary to what was observed in CR. A recent study that analyzed the role of visceral fat in adiposity and insulin sensitivity showed that removal of visceral fat caused an increase in insulin sensitivity in N mice, whereas it made the GHRKO mice more resistant to insulin (MASTERNAK et al., 2012). Interestingly, there is no lifespan expansion when GHRKO mice are subjected to CR (BONKOWSKI et al., 2009; BONKOWSKI et al., 2006), possibly because CR decreases adiposity, which may not be advantageous for GHRKO mice (MASTERNAK et al., 2012). The GHRKO mice attain lifespan extension through a mechanism that overlaps the effects of CR, considering that CR cannot further increase longevity in these mutants. In the current study, long-living df/df mice were used to investigate detailed regulation of insulin sensitivity in different insulin signaling organs and the impact of Ames dwarfism mutation on health and gut microbiota. The gut microbiota showed variations in long-living df/df mice during early life development which could represent major changes in bacteria populations that can promote a healthy lifespan during aging through differential stimulation of immune responses and overall lower inflammatory grade.

## 1.3 Ames dwarf mice

Ames dwarf mice (df/df) were first described in 1961 by Schaible and Gowen (SCHAIBLE R, 1961). They discovered that long-living df/df mice possess a homozygous, recessive mutation of the prophet of pituitary factor 1 gene (Prop1<sup>df/df</sup>) (SORNSON et al., 1996). The mutation of the Prop1 gene in mice triggers dwarfism through lack of GH production due to a compromised development of anterior pituitary cells. Additionally, as a result of this mutation, df/df mice are also characterized by a deficiency of both prolactin (PRL) and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH); yet as mentioned earlier, the mice exhibit an extended lifespan and healthspan (BARTKE, 2000; SORNSON et al., 1996). Ames dwarf mice appear normal at birth however they develop slower in contrast to their wild type littermates and also gain only one-third of the regular adult body weight (Fig. 1). Due to PRL deficiency, their sex-related maturation is delayed; with females being unable to maintain healthy pregnancy unless a PRL replacement therapy is provided throughout the pregnancy (BARTKE, 1964; BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004). Ames dwarf mice have reduced levels of IGF-1 and thyroid hormones, and lower plasma glucose and decreased levels of insulin. Moreover, they exhibit enhanced insulin sensitivity as well as increased hepatic sensitivity to insulin as well as enhanced antioxidant defenses, that goes along with an improved resistance to oxidative stress (BARTKE, BROWN-

BORG, 2004). They present with a decreased body temperature (HUNTER et al., 1999), however their food intake as well as their oxygen intake per gram of body weight are elevated (MATTISON et al., 2000; WESTBROOK et al., 2009). Ames dwarf mice live considerably longer and much healthier lives than their N siblings. These GH-deficient mice are very insulin sensitive, glucose tolerant, and do not show a diabetic phenotype. Furthermore, df/df mice are less susceptible to cancer (MASTERNAK, BARTKE, 2012). Ames dwarf mutants display a number of qualities of CR mice such as decreased body size, suppressed IGF-1, insulin, glucose and lower body temperature, however they are not CR mimetics. When subjected to CR, they exhibit a further increase in both longevity and insulin sensitivity (MATTISON et al., 2000).



**Figure 1** - Ames dwarf and Normal littermate control mouse at an age of two weeks. (Ames dwarf on the left, Normal littermate control on the right).

# **1.4 Calorie Restriction**

Calorie Restriction (CR) is a well-established dietary intervention to extend the lifespan by a reduction in calorie intake (WEINDRUCH et al., 1986). Early rodent studies have shown that a 30-60% decrease in calorie consumption significantly enhances life expectancy and improves healthspan by delaying the onset of and also protecting animals from variety of age related conditions (ANDERSON et al., 2009) (Fig. 2).



**Figure 2** – Kaplan-Meier survival plot presenting long-living Ames dwarf (df/df) and normal littermate control (N) mice subjected life-long calorie restriction (30% CR) or fed ad libitum (AL). Figure taken from Bartke et al. (BARTKE et al., 2001b).

The survival graph in Fig. 2 presents the maximum life expectancy expansion of df/df-AL and N-AL mice and also in df/df-CR and N-CR mice. These data indicate that CR increases the lifespan to the longevity maintained by long-living df/df animals, yet the dwarf mice showed additional lifespan extension in response to CR indicating that the mechanism of CR and Ames dwarfism is not identical (Fig. 2). This implies that CR influences different pathways than that seen in df/df mice which leads to an increase in longevity (BARTKE et al., 2001b). The reduction of body fat as well as the enhancement in insulin sensitivity are some positive effects of CR. CR also reduces the levels of plasma glucose and insulin, correlating to improved insulin sensitivity (MASTERNAK et al., 2009). Various animal studies have shown that CR slows aging and also reduces levels of cholesterol and blood pressure (OMODEI, FONTANA, 2011). In particular, studies with different rodents including mice and rats support the concept of CR causing delayed aging, and the onset of various age-related diseases such as type 2 diabetes or cancer. It has been shown that longevity can be greater than 40% when mice are subjected to CR; Moreover, it could be demonstrated that CR increases the lifespan not only in rodents but also in other animals such as rhesus monkeys, Drosophila melanogaster, Caenorhabditis elegans or yeast (MASORO, 2006). Additionally, it was also be shown that in non-mammalian models i.e., yeast, worms and flies, the lifespan extension is even more pronounced (FONTANA et al., 2010; WEINDRUCH et al., 1986). Several studies have shown that animals subjected to CR, with the same chronological age, are physiologically younger than their N controls (MASORO, 2006). Studies with rats indicated that CR reduces the rate of the agerelated mortality (FINCH, HAYFLICK, 1977; MASORO, 2006). In addition, patient-based studies revealed multiple positive effects including bodyweight and adiposity reduction as well as significant improvement in blood metabolites (RACETTE et al., 2006), protection against atherosclerosis (FONTANA et al., 2004), improvement of memory in older individuals (WITTE et al., 2009) and also enhancement of heart functionality (MEYER et al., 2006). Existing data suggests that the impact of CR on the aging process may be regulated through a decrease in glucose, by means of the glycation reactions resulting in advanced glycosylation end-products, and thus altering protein and DNA stability (MASORO et al., 1989). Furthermore, the influence of CR on the aging process may also be regulated through oxidative damage, or even adjustments in certain gene expression (MORLEY et al., 1988).

### 1.5 Insulin sensitivity in long-living Ames dwarf mice

Previous studies revealed that improved insulin activity as well as glucose homeostasis appears to be a crucial aspect for preserving healthy aging (BARBIERI et al., 2003; MASTERNAK et al., 2009; WIJSMAN et al., 2012). A disrupted glucose and insulin homeostasis are often associated with increased fat content in the body. Aging is known to increase the risk for metabolic disorders including resistance to insulin, which is one of well recognized causes of type 2 diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular diseases and chronic inflammations. Moreover, those diseases have been recently connected to the development of cancer (KINTSCHER et al., 2008; LAGO et al., 2007; NELSON et al., 2004; PAN et al., 2006; PRADHAN et al., 2001; WEISBERG et al., 2003; WILLERSON, RIDKER, 2004). Earlier research study has shown that alterations in insulin as well as insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) signaling expands the life expectancy and also reduces aging in rats, nematodes, as well as in flies (TATAR et al., 2003) mentioning that this signaling pathway is therefore a primary factor in the regulation of healthy aging. Notably, the impact of this signaling pathway on aging seems also to be applicable in humans (FONTANA et al., 2010). It is well known that glucose tolerance decreases with advanced age. In humans, there is a decrease in glucose resistance which starts in the third or fourth decade and also proceeds throughout the whole adult lifespan (DEFRONZO, 1981). The main problem of this age-related damage in glucose metabolism is that the cells become resistant to the insulin effect. Increasing insulin resistance caused rising glucose levels known as glucose intolerance-(CHANG, HALTER, 2003). Many factors possibly contribute to insulin resistance, including decreased physical activity as well as reduced muscle mass. However, the aging process seems to have its own deleterious effect on the

tissue sensitivity to Insulin (DEFRONZO, 1981). Since ages, scientists correlate human long life with a reduced level of insulin resistance (BARBIERI et al., 2003). That supports the idea that remarkably long-living individuals are insulin delicate during their whole life expectancy, and maybe even genetically shielded from an age-related decrease of insulin activity. Ames dwarf mice live much longer than their N siblings due to lack of development of the anterior pituitary cells, and reveal many symptoms of delayed aging (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004). One of the most essential factors is, that these GH-deficient mice display an enhanced response to administered insulin, they exhibit a reduced fasting insulin as well as glucose concentrations. They have also a high concentrations of serum adiponectin (WIESENBORN et al., 2014b). Additionally, they are healthier along with getting older and also show equivalent functions to those discovered in centenarians (BARBIERI et al., 2003; MASTERNAK et al., 2009; MASTERNAK et al., 2010). Analysis of genes and proteins regulating insulin action in various organs and also basic glucose and insulin tolerance examinations sustains the hypothesis that enriched insulin signaling in long-living df/df mice is actually strongly associated along with lifespan expansion (MASTERNAK et al., 2004; MASTERNAK et al., 2005; MASTERNAK, BARTKE, 2007, 2012; MASTERNAK et al., 2009; MASTERNAK et al., 2010; WANG et al., 2006). Along with a variety of other mutations, there are well-known interventions that expand the life expectancy in lab animals (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004). One of the most highly effective intervention in research laboratory animals is CR which enhances the insulin sensitivity and also prolongs the lifespan (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004; BARTKE et al., 2001b; MASTERNAK et al., 2009). There is not sufficient evidence whereby CR can increase the lifespan in humans. Nonetheless, it is well examined that a decrease of calorie consumption improves the level of insulin sensitivity, glucose homeostasis and also sustains a healthy metabolic process in human beings. In addition, a pharmacological study with rapamycin indicated significant suppression of mammalian target of rapamycin gene (mTOR) and displayed successful lifespan extension in mice (HARRISON et al., 2009; MILLER et al., 2011). Noticeably, long life therapy with rapamycin does not enhance the insulin level of sensitivity (MILLER et al., 2008) however it might instead foster a glucose intolerance as well as insulin resistance (BLAGOSKLONNY, 2011). Extended treatment with rapamycin advertises a metabolic altering and also adjustments by enhancing level of insulin sensitivity and additionally expanding long life (FANG, BARTKE, 2013). These studies imply that healthy insulin and glucose metabolism is crucial for long life. However, it is not yet established whether systemic or tissue-specific insulin sensitivity is crucial for healthy aging. In this study, it was investigated if enhanced insulin signaling in df/df mice correlates with improved tissue-specific insulin activity in vivo (WIESENBORN et al., 2014a). Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps along with tracer techniques were carried out to analyze whole-body and also tissue-specific

insulin activity *in vivo* for its very first time in long-living df/df mice (WIESENBORN et al., 2014a). The hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp is well-established as a "gold standard" procedure to assess insulin responsiveness *in vivo* (AYALA et al., 2011; BERGLUND et al., 2008; MCGUINNESS et al., 2009; TAM et al., 2012). Throughout the clamp study, insulin is infused at a steady rate to accomplish physiological or pharmacological hyperinsulinemia. Through injecting glucose at a variable rate and also a continual measuring of blood glucose level alongside following adjustment of the glucose infusion rate, euglycemia is achieved. Thus, this technique enables the measurement of insulin activity independent of modifications in circulating glucose. To analyze insulin action in different insulin target organs, including subdue of hepatic glucose manufacturing and also stimulation of organ specific glucose uptake, radioactively-labeled glucose analogs have been applied.

### **1.6 The Gastrointestinal tract**

The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is an organ system in animals and humans, which is responsible for the uptake, digestions and resorption of food, to absorb nutrients as well as energy and to dispense the resulting waste as feces. The GI tract is composed of mouth, esophagus, stomach, small intestine (duodenum, jejunum, ileum) and large intestine (cecum, colon, rectum) (Fig. 3) (HOWELL, WELLS, 2011).



Figure 3 - The Gastrointestinal tract

In addition, there are different glandular systems associated with the GI tract that support digestion, such as the tongue, salivary glands, pancreas, liver and gallbladder. The GI tract contains all the organs between the mouth and the anus, creating a constant passageway that encompasses the main digestive organs, such as the stomach, small and large intestine. Furthermore, besides being the largest digestive and endocrine organ the GI tract is also the largest immune organ in the human body (PIERRE et al., 2016). The lymphatic system and its lymphocytes are very important for the body's defense. There is a large amount of lymphatic tissue in the gut. This is clearly visible in the small intestine i.e., as Peyer-Plagues, papilliform elevations on the antimesenterial side of the intestine. Additional lymphatic tissue is found in the mesentery in form of lymph nodes closely associated with the GI tract, whose function is primarily the supply of blood as well as lymphatic liquid. The tubular hollow organs, small intestine and large intestine as well as the esophagus, stomach and cecum are made up of different tissue layers, which directly connect the inner layer of tissue to the food. the external muscle layers consist of muscle, neural, connective and the lymphatic tissue. The various muscle layers in the intestine are responsible for different types of contraction. The entire human GI tract is about 9 meters long and harbors trillions of microbes, with about 4,000 specific bacterial strains having various functions in immune health and metabolism maintenance. There is a large amount of lymphatic tissue in the intestine. The average ratio of the intestinal surface to body surface area is comparable in between mice and also humans (CASTELEYN et al., 2010), however this ratio varies considerably among both species over various sections of the intestine. The human cecum is comparatively small, when compared to rodents, and has an attached appendix (NGUYEN et al., 2015). Interestingly, latest work has indicated that the appendix plays a function in intestinal recolonization after natural flora (e.g., through antibiotics) becomes degraded (NGUYEN et al., 2015; SMITH, 2013). The small and large intestine wall is made up of functionally distinct layers. The outer layer is composed of the serosa and the smooth muscle, which participate in peristalsis. The middle layers consist of the submucosa and muscularis mucosae, the innermost layers of the lamina propria, and the plain columnar epithelium that lines the luminal surface. (HOWELL, WELLS, 2011). This basic intestinal epithelium borders the luminal surface area. Within the small intestine, the surface area is composed of villi and crypts. The villi harbor mainly absorptive cells, while crypt cells are usually considered as secretory. Almost all of the transfer of nutrients takes place in the small intestine, while the colon is mainly responsible for the resorption of liquids and electrolytes (KIELA, GHISHAN, 2016). By the mechanism of cell division, maturation and migration the epithelial cells can constantly be renewed every 4 to 5 days. This renewal is based on proliferative cells (stem cells) which are located around the bottom of the epithelial crypts and that have the potential to develop to new epithelial (progenitor) cells (CLEVERS,

BATLLE, 2013). After the new cells have been created at the base, they move upwards and also out of the crypt and start maturing along the way. At some point, they go through apoptosis as well as being shed into the lumen of the intestine (VAN DER FLIER, CLEVERS, 2009). The cellular lining of the gut is continuously renewed while the number of cells composing the epithelial layer remains constant. In this area, the epithelium is accountable for supplying an enormous cell turnover as well as the epithelial stem cell protective niche (UMAR, 2010). The dominant intestinal epithelial cell types in the small and as well in the large intestine are the enterocytes. Their primary function is the intake of nutrients and liquids. Paneth cells are specialized secretory epithelial cells which are physiologically located at the bottom positions of small intestinal crypts (GASSLER, 2017). Those cells secrete abundant antimicrobial proteins, like lysozyme, and through disrupting of the Paneth cell secretion may lead to inflammatory diseases (BEL et al., 2017). Antimicrobial peptides, especially  $\alpha$ -defensins which are also expressed by Paneth cells, control the composition of microbiota and play a major role in intestinal barrier function and homeostasis (EHMANN et al., 2019). These have been shown to be relevant to the intestinal stem cells, since they are implicated in the provision of the microenvironmental niche in the base of the crypts (HOWELL, WELLS, 2011). Goblet cells which are accountable for mucus secretion occur more frequently in the large intestine than in the small intestine. Enteroendocrine cells (e.g., enterochromaffin cells) comprise lower than 1% of all intestinal epithelial cells, but due to their secretion of GI hormones, they are an important endocrine organ (HOWELL, WELLS, 2011; MAYER, 2011). With respect to immunity, it is important to consider the Microfold cells or M cells which are located in the gutassociated lymphoid tissue (GALT) of the Peyer's patches in the small intestine and as well in other areas of the intestine in the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT). These kinds of cells are recognized to cause mucosal immunity reactions on the apical membrane of the M cells and also enable microbes and particles to be transported throughout the epithelial cell layer from the intestinal lumen to the lamina propria where the interactions along with immune cells may occur (MABBOTT et al., 2013). It is necessary to have a coordinated interaction between the intestinal layers to perform physiological tasks of the gut (HOWELL, WELLS, 2011). The GI tract is a very complex organ system which performs a variety of vital functions including digestion, absorption, secretion, mixing, segmentation, excretion, propulsive movements (peristalsis and migrating motor complexes), as well the immune defense (UESAKA et al., 2016). Several of these intestinal functions are mediated by intrinsic neurons of the enteric nervous system (ENS) and/or by extrinsic sympathetic, parasympathetic, and sensory neurons (UESAKA et al., 2016).

### 1.7 The gut microbiota

The first essential step of human microbiota is beginning already in the mother's womb. The GI tract is basically clean and sterile at birth, however its own colonization through various bacterial strains starts during the course of birth. Then they will develop into the largest bacterium population in the human body which reaches up to 10<sup>11</sup> to 10<sup>12</sup> cells/g of luminal contents in the colon (DAVE et al., 2012). The human microbiome establishes itself after birth within the first few years until a certain degree of stability and high diversity is achieved. However, especially in the first three years of life, numerous environmental influences, such as nutrition, diseases (especially infections), antibiotics and other medical therapies, can lead to pronounced, sometimes persistent microbiome shifts, some of which can have considerable health consequences. The intestine of an adult individual host hundreds to thousands of bacterial species (DONALDSON et al., 2016). The amount of bacteria rises from the small to the large intestine (GERRITSEN et al., 2011). Within the small intestine, the composition of the bacteria also varies from that of the large intestine. It is reasonable to assume that the physiology of the intestine plays an important role in this process, since there are pH and oxygen gradients from the small to the large intestine and also a various availability of nutrients (DONALDSON et al., 2016). Also, the much shorter transit period in the small intestine was suggested to have an influence on adherence and therefore the colonization of the small intestine. Since the levels of oxygen are higher in the small intestine, the bacteria which are colonizing this habitat are facultative anaerobes that can tolerate a lower pH (e.g., Lactobacillaceae) (DONALDSON et al., 2016; GU et al., 2013). In comparison, in the colon the availability of straightforward carbon sources is extremely small meaning that the bacteria have to have the ability to assimilate "resisting" polysaccharides. This encourages the development of fermentative anaerobes (e.g., Bacteroidaceae) (DONALDSON et al., 2016). In the GI tract all components are covered by the mucous layer. Basically, mucus consists of water and highly glycosylated gel-forming mucins, that are made and also constantly renewed by goblet cells (JOHANSSON et al., 2011; KELLY et al., 2015; PELASEYED et al., 2014). In fact, in the colon, the mucus layer is a lot thicker as in the small intestine and it consists of basically two layers (JOHANSSON et al., 2011) which are described as loosely outer as well as firmly inner layer (ATUMA et al., 2001; JOHANSSON et al., 2011). Both the thickness and the microbiota composition in between of these two layers are distinct (DONALDSON et al., 2016; JOHANSSON et al., 2011). Additionally, the thickness of these layers is really variable and is also suggested to be affected due to the existing bacteria. As it is not very easy for bacteria to enter the mucus, the microbial population inhabiting the mucus has to have unique colonization capabilities (DONALDSON et al., 2016). The usage of mucin glycans is one of the products which is frequently expressed in the mucosa-associated microbiota (PNG et al., 2010). In

addition to the distinct bacterial composition of the inner and outer mucus layer, the colon has strong spatial heterogeneity (ZHANG et al., 2014). Furthermore, the digesta-associated colonic community is distinguished from the mucosal microbial community (ECKBURG et al., 2005). Therefore, the microbial characterization of fecal samples is thus now regarded more critical (DONALDSON et al., 2016). In terms of this aspect, it is particularly important to consider the impact of diet on the microbiota. Although microbial community profiling in fecal samples provide acceptable data with respect to the intestinal lumen communities, it should be noted that the mucosal-associated bacteria may be slightly less influenced by, or require longer periods of, intervention for modifications to come to be apparent (DONALDSON et al., 2016).

### **1.8 Factors that affect the intestinal microbiota**

Several factors that have an effect on the intestinal microbiota have been identified. In reality, the first crucial step of human microbiota is beginning already in the mother's womb. In spite of previous claims that the mother's placenta is free of germs, new research studies has found that the maternal microbiota also impacts the child's microbiota (AAGAARD et al., 2014; COLLADO et al., 2015; RODRIGUEZ et al., 2015). For this reason, deliberate modifications of diet as well as overall life style of the mother have currently been advised as a therapeutic approach for the development of healthy fetal microbiota and also as an assistance to lessen the risks of specific diseases in the unborn child (COLLADO et al., 2015; RODRIGUEZ et al., 2015). The delivery process is actually the next important step for the microbiota of the child. In these findings, it is very clear that the Cesarean section affects the microbiota in a detrimental manner, rendering the infant more vulnerable to diseases, like but not restricted to asthma, celiac disease and obesity (BARROS et al., 2012; COLLADO et al., 2015; DECKER et al., 2011; THAVAGNANAM et al., 2008). Breast milk as a first food is strongly involved in the development of the intestinal microbiota of the infant (DONALDSON et al., 2016). This result is attributable to the fact that there are bacteria in the milk, as properly as milk oligosaccharides, which work as carbon sources for some microbes, and also maternal antibodies, that act as defense and thereby encourage homeostasis (DONALDSON et al., 2016; FERNANDEZ et al., 2013; ROGIER et al., 2014; YU et al., 2013). While the microbiota is also an adaptable mechanism in later stages of life, it is especially important to develop a healthy microbiota during the childhood (BAUER et al., 2016; BORRE et al., 2014; RODRIGUEZ et al., 2015). The lifestyle, medications, environment, diet and as well supplements (e.g., pre-and probiotics) have an effect on the microbiota during the entire life (GERRITSEN et al., 2011; RODRIGUEZ et al., 2015). Whereas the abovementioned factors

can often be affected by the host, various other factors do not lead to alterations, such as sex and age which often shape the intestinal microbiota (GERRITSEN et al., 2011; MARKLE et al., 2013). It is currently believed that the diet has the greatest effect on the microbiota (DAVID et al., 2014; DONALDSON et al., 2016). However, the immune system also affects and imposes selective pressure on the intestinal microbiota (DONALDSON et al., 2016).

### 1.9 Gut microbiota in health and aging

The gut microbiome describes a population of microorganisms that inhabits the GI tract, including bacteria, viruses, archaea and eukaryotic microbes. The GI system can host approximately 1000 microbial varieties, much of which encode protein features that are missing from the human genome (LI et al., 2014). Consequently, the gut microbiome is capable of impacting metabolic functions, modulating the host immune system and protecting against pathogens (SHREINER et al., 2015). In addition to that, it is known that the microbiome has an influence on aging processes and a "well-balanced and healthy" microbiota may possess a defensive effect that protect organism from the onset of different diseases during aging. Numerous research studies have actually revealed that the aging process reduced microbiome selection and also boosted frailty, which has actually been related to age-related bowel problems as well as low-level chronic inflammation (CANDELA et al., 2014). Diet regimen along with environmental factors are mostly identified as the major components fit microbiome composition, recommending that regulating as well as preserving a healthy diet plan might assist to induce a microbiome that enhances health and wellness as well as expands life-span (CLAESSON et al., 2012). Notably, modifications in the microbiome as well as microbial metabolites throughout aging have actually been related with a greater risk of Alzheimer's (SHOEMARK, ALLEN, 2015) and Parkinson's condition (SCHEPERJANS et al., 2015; UNGER et al., 2016), which could be associated to modifications in mucosal barrier function (SCHWIERTZ et al., 2018). Several studies reported that a dietary treatment, such as Calorie Restriction (CR), extends the lifespan in a number of different animal models. Experimental studies revealed that CR regimen in mice may expand life-span through approximately 40%, while in non-mammalian models, the impacts of CR was actually more pronounced/clear (FONTANA et al., 2010; WEINDRUCH et al., 1986). This dietary treatment decreases the levels of body weight and plasma glucose and insulin, while enhancing the tolerance of insulin in laboratory animals and overall health (ANDERSON et al., 2009). Long living df/df mice exhibit many of the attributes of CR mice, but the mechanism of action is not the same, as previous studies have provided evidence that CR additionally expands not only life expectancy but also improves insulin sensitivity in these long-living animals (MATTISON et al., 2000).

Additionally, it is also well known that blood pressure and cholesterol rates are likewise lowered by CR (FONTANA et al., 2004). Dietary CR studies in human beings have actually shown numerous health advantages consisting of decreased body weight and obesity (RACETTE et al., 2006), minimized atherosclerosis (FONTANA et al., 2004), and enhanced heart functionality (MEYER et al., 2006). In fact, the incidence for age-related diseases like type 2 diabetes and cancer is reduced by CR (EVERITT et al., 2006). Considering that the df/df mutation as well as CR treatment both prolong the lifespan and also healthspan in mice, the effect of this particular mutation and as well nutritional routine on the arrangement of intestine microbiome has been analyzed. The objective was to figure out if the hereditary mutation that prolongs life expectancy in mice will certainly switch microbiome composition in contrast to genetically N littermates stemming from the same moms and dads which were kept according to the exact same environmental conditions. Therefore, when comparing df/df and N mice, it has been examined whether nutritional treatments with CR could cause different changes in the gut microbiota.

# 2. Specific Aims

Growth hormone and insulin signaling pathways are important regulators of healthy metabolism and aging. Importantly, GH-deficient df/df mice are characterized by increased longevity, which is strongly associated with improved insulin sensitivity due to suppression of GH action. Additionally, external factors such as food and associated microbiota plays an important role in regulating insulin and glucose metabolism. Based on this the general hypothesis that Ames dwarfism mutation has significant impact on improvement of insulin sensitivity and maintaining health gut microbiota was proposed.

# Specific Aim 1: Determine the tissue-specific insulin action in longliving Ames dwarf mice using the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp technique.

Previously published data indicate a strong association between insulin sensitivity and expected lifespan (BARTKE et al., 2002). Several Studies with different organisms suggested that maintaining low insulin levels and moderate hypoglycemia predicts longer lifespan. Additionally experiments with basic insulin tolerance tests (ITT) in long-living df/df mice showed a significant association between ITT and longevity (MASTERNAK et al., 2009). However, beside basic ITT and glucose tolerance test (GTT) analysis and extensive studies of insulin signaling pathway, physiological studies have been performed that indicate *in vivo* responses. Based on the actual literature and previous studies of insulin signaling pathways in different insulin responsive organs I hypothesize that enhanced insulin and increased glucose clearance by skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. To test this hypothesis, a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp was performed for the first time in these mice. Until now this approach was not realized due to difficulties related to the extremely small size of these animals.

# Specific Aim 2: Determine the impact of Prop1df lifespan extending mutation and the effect of CR on development of gut microbiota.

Studies showing that the gut microbiome has an impact on aging processes and metabolic functions, and it can also protect against several diseases. The gut microbiome of an organism is relatively stable in healthy person over time, yet there is increased variability during aging. The composition of the microbiome can be also influenced by diet and other environmental factors (SHREINER et al., 2015). In fact, many studies have shown that the process of aging

or specific diets (i.e., calorie restriction, high fat diet etc.) can have a strong impact on health and variety of the gut microbiome (NAGPAL et al., 2018).

Based on latest studies of the gut microbiome related to aging I hypothesize that life-extending df/df mutation and CR causes improvement in gut microbiota and that the bacterial composition in the gut will be affected differently, that presumably contributes to the phenotypic differences and may be beneficial to improved health- and lifespan. To test this hypothesis, the microbiome analysis in these long-living genetic and dietary animal models was performed for the very first time.

## 3. Material and Methods

### 3.1 Approach

# Specific Aim 1: Determine the tissue-specific insulin action in longliving Ames dwarf mice using the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp technique.

Long-living df/df mice have a GH, PRL and TSH deficiency and they are characterized by an extended life- and healthspan. Furthermore, they are protected from variety of age-related diseases, including metabolic complications such as glucose intolerance or insulin resistance. Multiple studies show that df/df mice display a better insulin signaling in various insulin-target organs, thus suggesting that this is a potential lifespan mechanism. Though, it is not known if enhanced insulin signaling in df/df mice leads to a better insulin action on the production of hepatic glucose and tissue glucose uptake. These mice have reduced circulating levels of fasting glucose and insulin. They also show increased glucose tolerance and they are hypersensitive to injected insulin. For the first time, a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study was conducted to investigate tissue-specific insulin activity *in vivo* in these long-living df/df mice. These findings showed that the rate of glucose infusion needed to sustain euglycemia was 2-fold higher in df/df mice than in N control mice. In df/df mice this improved role of insulin action and glucose homeostasis can play a major role in promoting healthy aging and lifespan extension.

### 3.1.1 Research Design and Animals

All experiments were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute at Lake Nona. Ames dwarf and also N mice were provided by NIA Aged Rodent Colonies (<u>http://www.nia.nih.gov/research/dab/aged-rodent-colonies-handbook</u>) at the age of 12 months. Clamp study (n=4/sex/genotype) was conducted on N and df/df males and females mice. The mice were obtained and placed for 1 week prior to surgery on a sterilized rodent diet (Harlan Teklad LM-485, #7912; Harlan Teklad, Madison, WI). Ames dwarf mice and their normal siblings were housed with a 12-hour light and dark cycle under controlled temperature at 23°C with free access to food and water. The mice were catheterized after anesthesia with sodium pentobarbital (70 mg/kg body wt) at least 5 days prior to the experiments (NISWENDER et al., 1997). A two-part catheter consisting of PE-10 (inserted into the artery) and silastic (0.025 outer diameter [OD]) was used to catheterize the left common carotid artery for sampling. For infusions with a silastic catheter (0,025 OD), the right jugular

vein was catheterized. Afterwards, the free catheter ends were tunneled to the back of the neck under the skin and attached to tubing made of Micro-Renathane (0.033 OD) through stainless steel connectors. The tubing was externalized and closed with plugs made of stainless steel. In N and df/df mice was only a catheter in the right jugular vein implanted due to their tiny body size. Every day the lines were flushed with ~50  $\mu$ I of saline consisting of 200 units/ml heparin and 5 mg/ml ampicillin. The animals were housed separately after surgery, and their body weight was recorded on a daily basis. The animals were excluded from the study if the bodyweight were not within the 10% of their presurgery weight until day 5 after

# postsurgery (AYALA et al., 2006).

### 3.1.2 Hyperinsulinemic-Euglycemic Clamp

The hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp, also called insulin clamp, was used to measure the insulin sensitivity in vivo. N and GH deficient df/df mice had a catheter implanted in the right jugular vein for infusions (AYALA et al., 2006) (Fig. 4). However, due to their tiny body size as well as the challenge of the surgical procedure, blood sampling was not performed by accessing the carotid vein. Instead, blood was collected from unrestrained mice through the tail tip during the clamp (Fig. 4). The following experimental setup and timeline for the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp are shown in Figure 5. Complying with a 5-day recuperation from the surgery, mice were fasted at t=0 min. for 5 hours before the beginning of a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp. At t=-90 min, mice got a prepared, constant infusion of HPLC-purified [3-3H]glucose (1µCi prime, 0.05 µCi/min continuous) during the course of a 90 min. equilibration time period. For measurements of fasting glucose, insulin and plasma [3-<sup>3</sup>H]glucose, blood samples were taken at -15 min (25  $\mu$ l) and -5 min (50  $\mu$ l). A continuous infusion of insulin (16 or 300 mU/kg bolus followed by 2.5 mU·kg<sup>-1</sup>·min<sup>-1</sup>; Humulin R; Eli Lilly, Indianapolis, IN) and a variable infusion of glucose were started at t=0 min. Blood glucose was determined every 10 minutes (Accu-Chek Aviva, <u>1 µl samples</u>) and also the glucose infusion rate was readjusted as necessary to keep euglycemia (~160 mg·dL<sup>-1</sup>). For measurements of steady-state clamp glucose and plasma [3-3H]glucose, blood samples of 50 µl were collected at t=80, 90, 100, 110 and 120 min and processed to evaluate glucose specific activity. Blood samples were used to measure clamp insulin levels at t=120 min (additional 25 µl of blood was taken). Then, a 12µCi bolus of 2[<sup>14</sup>C]deoxyglucose (2[<sup>14</sup>C]DG) was given to measure the tissue-specific glucose uptake. Blood samples (25 µl) were collected at t=2, 15, 25, and 35 min. after administration of the bolus for measurements of plasma 2[<sup>14</sup>C]DG. After these interventions (Fig. 5) the mice were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (70 mg/kg body wt). Anesthetized animals were euthanized and various tissue samples such as soleus,

gastrocnemius, superficial vastus lateralis, gonadal adipose tissue, brain and heart were collected, immediately flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and preserved at -80°C until analyzed.



**Figure 4** - Depiction of catheterized Ames dwarf (df/df) and normal (N) mice for the insulin clamp experiment.



**Figure 5** - A timeline of the procedures for setting up and performing the hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp.

### 3.1.3 Processing of plasma and tissues

The radioactivity of plasma [3-<sup>3</sup>H]glucose and 2[<sup>14</sup>C]DG was determined through liquid scintillation counting (Packard TRI-CARB 2900TR) with Ultima Gold (Packard) as scintillant after the previous deproteinization with barium hydroxide [Ba(OH)<sub>2</sub>, 0.3N] and zinc sulfate [ZnSO<sub>4</sub>, 0.3 N] by the method of Somogyi (AYALA et al., 2006). To determine radioactivity, one aliquot of 2[<sup>14</sup>C]DG and 2[<sup>14</sup>C]DG-6-phosphate (2[<sup>14</sup>C]DGP) was immediately counted. To remove 2[<sup>14</sup>C]DGP and any tracer inserted into glycogen, a second aliquot was treated with Ba(OH)<sub>2</sub> and ZnSO<sub>4</sub> and then counted for the determination of 2[<sup>14</sup>C]DG radioactivity. The accumulation from 2[<sup>14</sup>C]DGP has been normalized to the tissue weight in all studies (AYALA et al., 2008).

### 3.1.4 Calculations

Steele's non-steady state equations were used to calculate the rate of glucose appearance  $(R_a)$  and disappearance  $(R_d)$  (DEBODO et al., 1963; STEELE et al., 1956). The endogenous glucose rate (endogenous  $R_a$ ; mg · kg<sup>-1</sup> · min<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated through subtracting the glucose infusion rate (GIR) from total  $R_a$ . The calculation of the glucose metabolic index ( $R_g$ ), which is an index of glucose uptake, was performed by using the equation (AYALA et al., 2007; KRAEGEN et al., 1985):

 $R_{g} = \frac{2[{}^{14}C]DGP_{tissue}}{AUC \ 2[{}^{14}C]DG_{plasma}} X \text{ [arterial glucose]}$ 

 $R_g$  has been normalized to the tissue weight. Where  $2[^{14}C]DGP_{tissue}$  is the  $2[^{14}C]DGP$  radioactivity in the muscle (in dpm/g), the AUC  $2[^{14}C]DG_{plasma}$  is the region under the plasma  $2[^{14}C]DG$  disappearance curve (in dpm  $\cdot$  min  $\cdot$  ml<sup>-1</sup>) and the [arterial glucose] is the average blood glucose (in mmol/l) from t = 80-120 min during the experimental clamp period.

### 3.1.5 Statistical analysis

A one-tailed student's t-test was performed for in-between group analyses followed by F-statistics. For the significance level, alpha was set to P < 0.05. All statistical data have been carried out using Prism 5.04 (GraphPad Software, San Diego CA.). All data throughout the text and figures are reported as mean ±Standard Error of the Mean (SEM).

## 3.2 Approach

# Specific Aim 2: Determine the impact of Prop1df lifespan extending mutation and the effect of CR on development of gut microbiota.

The gut microbiome (GM) is a large and very complex ecosystem consisting of many strains of microorganisms. The impact of GM health in diverse diseases, including cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and aging, is of considerable interest. During the lifetime the GM changes and is strongly linked with different diseases associated with aging. Ames dwarf (df/df) mice are distinguished by an extended life- and healthspan, but their microbiome has not been studied yet. The focus here was on studying the changes in the GM in df/df and N littermate mice in order to assess the role of microbiota in longevity animal models, while comparing parents prior mating and littermate mice at three different time points through early life stages (WIESENBORN et al., 2019). In addition, it was analyzed the effects of 6-month CR, which is the most powerful intervention for extending the lifespan (WIESENBORN et al., 2019). Throughout early life development, the data indicate significant changes in GM composition, and also differences in the abundance of some bacteria between df/df and N mice in early life were observed. All in all, there were significant differences in the variability of the microbiota through genotype, time-point, and breeding pair. In addition, CR led to significant modifications in the microbiota by GI-location (distal colon, ileum and cecum), genotype as well as diet (WIESENBORN et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the total effect of the genotype was more pronounced than that of the CR. In summary, these results suggest that the intestinal microbiota plays a key role in postnatal development of long-living df/df mice, and that CR dietary treatment can significantly alter the GM.

### 3.2.1 Experimental Design of Ames dwarf mice

Ames dwarf (df/df) mice were bred and kept, under light- as well as temperature-controlled conditions, with a 12-hour light and 12-hour dark cycle and also a continuous temperature of 20-23°C at the Burnett School of Biomedical Sciences, University of Central Florida. UCF's Vivarium is a special pathogen-free barrier facility which is approved by AAALAC. PPE should always be worn by every staff worker entering the animal facility including shoe coverings, one-time lab coat, face and hair cover as well as gloves. Every person needs to go through the air-shower barrier to access the facility. The shoe cover and gloves were treated with chlorine dioxide for disinfection before and after using the air shower as well as before entering the room with the animals. Mice used in the research were maintained with automatic watering in laminar flow racks in Tecniplast filtered cages. Prior to use, all caging systems were

autoclaved. In order to remove any possible contamination, food and water were irradiated. In addition to the high standard of treating animals with comprehensive use of PPE, cages were put in a laminar flow workstation for any animal handling and the entire cage was sprayed with chlorine dioxide before opening. Moreover, every six months the PCR analysis showed that for: Aspiculuris tetraptera, Corynebacterium bovis, Helicobacter bilis, Helicobacter ganmani, Helicobacter hepaticus, Helicobacter mastomyrinus, Helicobacter rodentium, Helicobacter spp., Helicobacter typhlonius, murine norovirus, Myocoptes, Pasteurella pneumotropica biotype Heyl, Pasteurella pneumotropica biotype Jawetz, Radfordia/Myobia, Syphacia muris and Syphacia obvelata, mice were negative. Homozygous Ames dwarf (df/df) male and phenotypic normal (N) heterozygous female mice were mated to breed df/df and N littermates. In the study, male as well as female offspring were used and all planned experiments were approved by the Animal Care Committee of the UCF Laboratory.

At 4 specific time points, fecal pellets were gathered: Fecal pellets of non-pregnant female (N) and male mice (df/df) were collected prior to mating at Collection 1 (C1). (C1; males n=4 and females n=4). Fecal pellets of individual N and df/df pups were taken on day 22 at Collection 2 (C2). (C2; one day after weaning of N mice; N males n=7 and N females n=6). At day 21, only N pups were weaned at C2, while df/df pups had to stay with their mothers until day 41, following breeding protocol, as a result of their slower growth and development, at the time when collection was performed at C3. On day 70, fecal pellets from individual N and df/df pups were gathered at Collection 4 (C4). (C4; N males n=7, N females n=6, df/df males n=4 and df/df females n=6). At the final collection on day 70, mice were anesthetized with isoflurane, bled by cardiac puncture and sacrificed by cervical dislocation to collect the last fecal samples from distal colon, terminal ileum and cecum. Moreover, for additional studies, all samples were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at  $-80^{\circ}C$ .

#### 3.2.2 Experimental Design of Calorie Restriction

Long-living df/df and N littermate control mice were kept in single cages at a controlled temperature between 20-24°C with an uninterrupted 12-hour light and dark cycle. An ad libitum (AL) diet was fed to the mice (Rodent Laboratory Chow 5001; not autoclaved; 23.4% protein, 4.5% fat, 5.8% crude fiber; LabDiet PMI Feeds, Inc., St. Louis, MO). Ames dwarf and also N male mice were split right into 4 various groups (n= 10 mice/group) at the age of 3 months:

1. N mice fed ad libitum (N-AL), 2. N mice subjected to 30% CR (N-CR), 3. df/df mice fed ad libitum (df/df-AL) and 4. df/df mice subjected to 30% CR (df/df-CR). Mice chosen for dietary treatment underwent steady CR by minimizing food consumption to 90% throughout initial week, 80% throughout the second week and also 70% from the third week to completion of

the research study. The weekly food intake of AL mice has been calculated to change the food consumption dose in CR groups. Ames dwarf as well as N mice on CR were fed daily. Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane, following about 6 months of CR (mice were 9 months of age) and afterwards bled by cardiac puncture and sacrificed by cervical dislocation. For additional studies, fecal pellets from distal colon, terminal ileum and also cecum were gathered and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen as well as stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

## 3.2.3 16S rDNA Amplification, Sequencing and Microbiome Analysis

For the identification of microbiome, the amplification of the 16S rRNA gene's V4 region (F515/R806) was carried out as described in earlier protocols (CAPORASO et al., 2011). For every 30µL PCR reaction, 25ng DNA was utilized for DNA-based amplicon sequencing. The PCR was composed of first denaturation for 30 s at 98°C, adhered to by 25 cycles of 10 s at 98°C, 20 s at 55°C and also 20 s at 72°C. Each sample was amplified in triplicate as well as merged together. Afterwards, the PCR amplicons were then sequenced on the Illumina MiSeq platform (PE250). By using Usearch 8.1 software package (http://www.drive5.com/usearch/), the reads were put together, quality checked as well as grouped. In short, the reads were merged utilizing -fastq mergepairs with -fastq maxdiffs 30 and the filtering of quality with fastq filter (-fastq maxee 1) and a minimal read length of 200 bp was performed. The UPARSE algorithm (EDGAR, 2013) was used to identify OTU (Operational taxonomic unit) clusters and representative sequences followed by taxonomy allocation using the Silva database v128 (QUAST et al., 2013) and the RDP Classifier (WANG et al., 2007) with bootstrap confidence cut off of 80%. An Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) is used to classify the groups of organisms which is currently be studied (JONES et al., 1973). Utilizing the phyloseq package (MCMURDIE, HOLMES, 2013), the OTU absolute abundance table and mapping file were made use of for statistical analyses as well as data visualization in the R statistical programming environment (TEAM, 2008).
### 4. Results

## 4.1 Effects of whole-body insulin sensitivity in long-living Ames dwarf mice

There were no variations in insulin sensitivity and as well glucose regulation between males and females observed, corresponding to the lack of sex differences in the lifespan in these animals (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004; BROWN-BORG et al., 1996). However, this has made it possible to merge and compare male and female results. The initial tests showed significantly lower levels of fasting insulin in df/df mice relative to N littermates (P<0.0005; F=5.329; df=14), whereas fasting glucose levels between genotypes revealed only a trend. (P<0.08; F=2.826; df=14) (Fig. 6).



**Figure 6** - Insulin and glucose levels before and during clamp of N and df/df mice. N= 8 animals for each genotype. \*P<0.05

The glucose infusion rate needed to sustain euglycemia (~160mg•dL-1) (Fig. 7A) was about 2-fold greater in GH-deficient df/df mice compared to N littermate controls (Fig. 7B) throughout a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp, indicating that glucose clearance is much greater in these long-living Ames dwarf mice when compared with N animals.



**Figure 7** - (A) Arterial glucose in long-living Ames dwarf (df/df) and normal (N) mice during insulin clamping. (B) Glucose Infusion Rate in N and df/df mice during insulin clamping. Each genotype contained n= 8 mice. \*P<0.05

During fasted, baseline conditions, the rate of endogenous glucose appearance (endoRa), which indicates the production of hepatic glucose, did not differ between df/df and N mice. Indeed, endoRa was entirely suppressed throughout the clamp in df/df mice while in N littermate controls it was just reduced by  $\sim 60\%$  (Fig. 8).



**Figure 8** - EndoRa for normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice. Black bars present EndoRa under basal condition, while white bars represent insulin clamp.

These greater hepatic response during clamp condition revealed that long-living df/df mice are characterized by increased hepatic insulin sensitivity by much more rapid responses to changing insulin and glucose levels in the body. Furthermore, *in vivo* stimulation of skeletal muscle in tested mice indicated that there is increase glucose uptake in gastrocnemius and superficial vastus lateralis in long-living df/df mice relative to N littermate controls (P<0.021; F=4.588; df=14 and P<0.0415; F=7.850; df=14, respectively) (Fig. 9). Moreover, when studying df/df and N control mice, there was no distinction in soleus muscle and also in heart glucose uptake (P<0.1736; F=5.23; df=14 and P<0.2065; F1.435; df=14, respectively). Interestingly, review of visceral adipose tissue analysis suggested a higher glucose uptake in df/df mice relative to N mice (P<0.0114; F=1.911; df=14) (Fig. 9). Remarkably, in df/df mice the uptake of glucose in the brain was decreased in comparison to N littermate control mice (P<0.0001; F=1.403; df=14) (Fig. 9).











**Figure 9** - Glucose metabolic index (Rg) during insulin clamps in different organs from normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice: (A) soleus, (B) gastrocnemius, (C) superficial vastus lateralis, (D) fat, (E) heart and (E) brain. n= 8 mice for each genotype. \*P<0.05

# 4.2 Long living GH-deficient df/df mice have a different microbiota composition

A longitudinal littermate control analysis according to Stappenbeck & Virgin 2016 (STAPPENBECK, VIRGIN, 2016) (Fig. 10A) was conducted to determine whether GH deficiency affects the intestinal microbiota of df/df mice. This kind of study was required as it was demonstrated that family transmission and environmental factors had a strong influence on the composition of microbiota in laboratory mice (MOELLER et al., 2018). Subsequently, Ames dwarf (df/df) male mice were crossed to female heterozygous (N) mice. After the offspring were born, the microbiota composition was examined through 16S rRNA gene sequencing after 22 days (feces), 42 days (feces) and 70 days (content of distal colon) in offspring (df/df and N) mice. Examination of alpha diversity showed a comparable variety of identified species (Observed species) (Fig. 10B) and a similar evenness (Shannon index) (Fig. 10C) at both times between df/df and N littermate control mice. Noticeably, examination of beta diversity by using Bray–Curtis dissimilarity and non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) readily showed distinctions in between df/df as well as N mice at both time points (Fig. 10D). Statistical analysis of permutational multivariate ANOVA (Adonis) was conducted to determine the contribution of genotype, breeding pair as well as gender to variability within the microbiota (Fig. 10D). This study showed that even after weaning both breeding pair (R2=0.195, p=0.06) and genotype (R2= 0.130, p= 0.013 \*) added to the observed variability. The results showed that after 70 days (C4) there was an even greater genotype effect (R2= 0.314, p= 0.001 \*\*\*) (Fig. 10D). In order to examine distinctions among the microbiota composition between mice, weighted Unifrac distances were utilized in addition to Bray-Curtis dissimilarity. The weighted

Unifrac distances among df/df mice were minor in relation to the distances in between df/df as well as N mice after 70 days. This result proves the advancement of genotype-dependent modifications in the composition of the microbiota (Fig. 10E). However, the ratio between Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (B/F ratio) to further characterize these disparities was guantified. Remarkably, the B/F ratio during weaning did not differ, but the B/F ratio at 10 weeks showed considerably differences (0.25 vs 0.5, p< 0.001) in between df/df and also N mice (Fig. 10F). Studies of microbiota composition on family level using beta-diversity analysis revealed in both groups the prevalent existence of commensal bacteria such as Muribaculaceae, Lachnospiraceae as well as Lactobacillaceae (Fig. 10G). LEfSe (Linear discriminant analysis Effect Size) analysis was conducted using standard parameters (Linear Discriminant Analysis [LDA] score > 3.0) (SEGATA et al., 2011) to determine which bacterial taxa showed significantly changed relative abundances between both genotypes at the age of 10 weeks. In general, LEfSe identifies the characteristics most likely to clarify the distinctions between the groups (organisms, clades, operational taxonomic units, genes, or functions) by combining standard statistical significance tests with additional biological consistency and effect relevance encoding tests (SEGATA et al., 2011). LEfSe analysis showed that families of Muribaculaceae (BacteroidalesS24 7 group), Enterococcaeceae, Enterobacteriaceae, Clostridiales vadinBB60group which belongs to the Phylum Firmicutes, and Porphyromonadaceae were found enriched in df/df mice, and in comparison, to littermate control mice a decrease of Lactobacillaceae, Rikenellaceae, and Planococcaceae (Fig. 10H) could be seen. In order to identify significant differences on the levels of individual OTUs, DESeq2 (LOVE et al., 2014) which uses various statistical approaches and models, was applied in addition to LEfSe. These results display in df/df mice an enrichment of OTUs belonging to the Muribaculaceae (=Muribaculum S24-7 group), Enterococcus spp., and Klebsiella spp., as well as a decrease of an OTU belonging to Lactobacillus spp., in comparison to N mice (Fig. 10H). In summary, all this research data supports the theory that throughout post-natal development, GH deficiency in df/df mice influences the microbiota composition.



В









Time point (C2) Distance Metric = wUnifrac 1.00 1.00 n.s. \*\*\*\* n.s. \*\*\*\* n.s. n.s. 0.75 0.75 .... 0.50 0.50 . 20 .... 1 2 4 2 S 0.25 0.25 •••• .... • 1 . . 14 0.00 0.00 N vs N N vs N df/df vs N vs df/df vs N vs df/df df/df df/df df/df

Time point (C4)



G





**Figure 10** - The variability of the gut microbiota in N and df/df littermates is described through genetics and breeding pair

(A) Experimental design by using Normal (N) and Ames dwarf mice (df/df) littermates for microbiome normalization. For DNA isolation the fecal samples were collected from parents (P-N, P-df/df) and offspring C2 (2<sup>nd</sup> week) and C4 (10th -week) after weaning. At C4, luminal samples were taken of indicated locations (GI: Ileum, Cecum and Distal Colon).

**(B)** Alpha-diversity in regard to offspring fecal microbiome at C2 as well as C4 by using observedrichness and **(C)** Shannon index. The Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio (calculated to be the relative abundance of Bacteroidetes / total (Firmicutes + Bacteroidetes)) at timepoint C2 and C4. **(D)** Analysis of Beta-diversity of the gut microbiota composition at different timepoints C2 and C4. Variance effect size of "genotype", "breeding pair" and "gender" by using NMDS ordination analysis and Bray-Curtis distances of colonic samples at timepoint C2 and C4.

(E) Weighted UniFrac distances of samples according to genotype at timepoint C4. In blue, are shown the comparisons among the same category and in red, the inter-group comparison.

**(F-G)** Taxonomic bar plot of dominant bacterial families for each sample (top 14 Families) sorted through Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio.

(H) Differential abundance analysis (DA) in between df/df and also N mice utilizing LEfSe as well as DESeq2. The upper chart represents the comparison of LEfSe at Family level (log10(LDA score) > 3.5). Below the upper chart, MA plots displays DA OTUs (Up: red; down: blue; P values < 0.05 after correction for several tests). A significant effect was due to the ADONIS test when the P-value is < 0.05 and R<sup>2</sup> is > 0.10 (equivalent to 10% of explained variance); \*\*\*P<0.001 \*\*P<0.01, \*P<0.05.

## 4.3 Alterations in gut microbiota are not restricted to the colonic microbiome

In order to determine if df/df mice have also changed the composition of the microbiota in the individual segments like small intestine and cecum, a comprehensive analysis of microbial communities in these organs was carried out. An analysis of beta diversity in the ileum and cecum, being consistent with data from the distal colon, showed distinctions among mice from the two genotypes for both organs (Fig. 11A and B). A permutational multivariate ANOVA analysis provided evidence that the observed variability was driven by both the breeding pair (R2= 0.341, p= 0.004 \*\*, Ileum) (R2= 0.288, p= 0.001 \*\*\*, Cecum) and the genotype (R2= 0.417, p= 0.001 \*\*\*, Ileum) (R2= 0.172, p= 0.001 \*\*\*, Cecum). According to earlier studies in further mouse lines (GALVEZ et al., 2017), the microbiome in the small intestine of df/df and also N mice is mainly dominated through Lactobacillaceae (Fig. 11C). The Lactobacillaceae, Enterobacteriaceae and Enterococcaceae families were identified as being overrepresented in the ileum of df/df mice through LEfSe (LDA score > 3.0), whereas the relative abundance of Muribaculaceae, Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae families were decreased (Fig. 11E). Remarkably, just one OTU, Lactobacillus spp., was determined, with enhanced abundance, while a number of various other OTUs with low abundance were reduced (Fig. 11G). The cecal microbiota of df/df and also N mice is mostly controlled by Muribaculaceae, Lachnospiraceae and Lactobacillaceae in both groups which is comparable to the microbiota in the distal colon (Fig. 11D). LEfSe determined the Enterobacteriaceae family to be elevated in df/df mice in cecum, that correlates with the enhanced relative abundance of this family in the distal colon (Fig. 11F). Furthermore, several bacterial families that were increased in the distal colon, like Muribaculaceae, were not changed in the cecum. Remarkably, in both the cecum as well as distal colon of df / df mice, it was found the same OTU (OTU 2) from the Muribaculaceae family

indicating the existence of common changes in the cecum and distal colon (Fig. 11H). The relative abundance of Lactobacillaceae was not as prominently modified in the cecum as it was in the distal colon, implying the existence of site-specific genotype-dependent alterations in the microbiome. Based on these evidences GH deficiency in df/df mice impacts the intestinal populations in colon and cecum distinctively.





Figure 11 – Different microbiota composition in Ileum and Cecum in df/df mice.

Analysis of Beta-diversity of intestinal microbiota from different intestinal segments at timepoint C4. Variance effect size using NMDS ordination analysis in **(A)** Ileum, and **(B)** Cecum.

Taxonomic bar plot of the dominant bacterial families for each sample (top 14 Families) sorted through Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio (C-D).

**(E-H)** Differential abundance analysis (DA) in between df/df and also N mice by using LEfSe as well as DESeq2. The upper chart represents the comparison of LEfSe at Family level (log10(LDA score) > 3.5). Below the upper chart, MA plots displays DA OTUs (Up: red; down: blue; P values < 0.05 after correction for several tests). P-value is < 0.05 and R<sup>2</sup> is > 0.10 (equivalent to 10% of explained variance); \*\*\*P<0.001 \*\*P<0.01, \*P<0.05.

#### 4.4 The vertical inheritance of microbiota in df/df mice

After having an effect of GH deficiency on microbiota in the GI tract, it was next examined if changes in df/df offspring mice are characteristic over generations when comparing the microbiota from parents (F0, genotype: mother: N/df; father: df/df) and offspring (F1, genotypes: N and df/df). Beta diversity analysis showed distinct pattern that were affected by both genotype (Adonis, R2= 0.212, p= 0.001 \*\*\*) and generation (R2= 0.131, p= 0.022 \*) (Fig. 12A). In order to further assess the influence of the genotype, it was conducted a comparison of the microbial communities through measuring weighted Unifrac distances between individual mice of the various groups. When genotype-dependent effects are maintained across generations, it would predict smaller Unifrac weighted differences between the mice of the same genotype relative to mice of the same generation but just another genotype. In line with this hypothesis, comparing the distances between the F1 mice showed significant

differences depending on the genotype (Fig. 12B and C). In particular, the F0 males, sharing the very same genotype, were the closest related group, meaning the next shortest distance, for the F1 df/df mice (Fig. 12B). The nearest related group for the F1 N/df mice were the F0 mothers, who shared the genotype similarly (Fig. 12C). This all together gives additional proof of distinctive genotype-dependent changes in GH-deficient df/df mice relative to N mice.

Α R2 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0 Gender Generation Genotype Æ 0.2 Genotype Ν df/df NMDS2 0.0 Generation Offspring N Offspring df/df . Parents\_M df/df Parents\_F N ۲ -0.2 ۲ -0.4 0.00 0.25 -0.25 0.50 NMDS1

#### В



С

Figure 12 - The offspring of df/df mice demonstrates a genotype-associated composition of the microbiota

(A) The analysis of Beta-diversity of offspring vs. parents (homozygotes df/df and heterozygotes N). The variance effect size of "Genotype", "Gender" as well as the interaction among "Generation and genetics" of colonic samples.

**(B-C)** The comparison of weighted UniFrac distances from homozygotes df/df as well as heterozygotes N offspring mice against parents. In blue, are shown the comparisons within the same category and in red, the inter-group comparison.

# 4.5 The effects of Calorie restriction on bodyweight and on fasting blood glucose in N and df/df mice

As expected, subjecting animals to 30% CR showed that the body weight of N-CR and df/df-CR mice were significantly decreased in comparison to their ad libitum (AL) fed littermate controls ( $p < 0.0001^{***}$  and  $p = 0.0016^{**}$ ) (Fig. 13). Additionally, the fasting blood glucose levels were also measured and as anticipated from previous observations df/df-AL mice were characterized through lower levels of fasting blood glucose in contrast to N-AL mice.



**Figure 13** - Bodyweight comparison of Normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice fed ad libitum (AL) or subjected to 30% calorie restriction (CR). Different letters indicate statistical significance.

As anticipated from previous observations df/df-AL mice were characterized through lower levels of fasting blood glucose in contrast to N-AL mice ( $p=0.0343^*$ ). The CR treatment caused a significant decrease in blood glucose levels in N-CR mice in comparison to N-AL littermate control mice ( $p<0.0001^{***}$ ) and also led to an additional decrease in blood glucose levels in df/df-CR mice relative to df/df-AL mice ( $p=0.0042^{**}$ ), (Fig.14).



**Figure 14** - Fasting blood glucose levels of Normal (N) and Ames dwarf (df/df) mice fed ad libitum (AL) or subjected to 30% calorie restriction (CR). Different letters indicate statistical significance.

# 4.6 Calorie restriction intervention changes the microbiota in df/df and N mice

In the next step, it was examined if diet causes similar or divergent changes in the microbiota of df/df and N mice. Thus, df/df and N mice underwent a 30% CR beginning at 3 months of age and after 6 months of dietary treatment, the microbiome analysis was carried out (Fig. 15A). First, alpha diversity in ileum, cecum and distal colon of df/df-AL, df/df-CR, N-AL as well as N-CR mice was investigated. However, despite a greater number of species observed in the cecum of N-AL in comparison to N-CR mice, there were no significant distinctions noted among mice of different genotype or diet (Fig. 15B-D). By comparison, analysis of beta diversity using Bray-Curtis dissimilarity as well as non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) showed distinctions amongst groups for the individual sample sites (Fig. 15E-G). Alterations between df/df-AL and N-AL mice (data not shown) were observed as with sampling times in previous experiments, demonstrating that there are genotype-dependent modifications in the microbiota at various time stages. Additionally, to the influence of genotype, the total evaluation of variability identified a large cage-driven effect as well as small impacts of the variable diet (Fig. 15E-G). The analysis of the microbiota composition among N-AL and N-CR mice utilizing LEfSe at genus level showed that CR caused significant alterations in the intestinal microbiota at all examined sites (Fig. 16A). In the ileum was an overabundance of various members of Lachnospiraceae (OTU 184 and OTU 21) and Ruminococcaceae (Acutalibacter OTU 71) (Fig. 16B). Remarkably, the Erysipelotrichaceae (Turicibacter OTU 6) family in cecum and colons showed significant enrichment in N-AL mice, which indicates that this class of bacteria is CR-responding (Fig. 16C-D). By comparison, LEfSe only detected minor CR induced changes in the microbiota of df/df mice (Fig. 16E-G). This result implies that CR-induced changes differ among the two genotypes, because in N mice was seen this strong CR-induced decrease in the family Erysipelotrichaceaen but not in df/df mice. In summary, this data develops that CR affects the composition of microbiota in N mice in a different way than in df/df mice.





Ε

F



#### G



**Figure 15** - The gut microbiota composition in relation to calorie restriction in long-living df/df mutants and N littermate controls mice.

(A) Experimental design to normalize the microbiome by using littermates Normal (N) as well as Ames dwarf mice (df/df). From parents (N-AL, N-CR, df/df-AL, df/df-CR) were drawn fecal samples for DNA isolation. After mice were euthanized, the luminal samples were taken from the described locations (GI locations: Ileum, Cecum and Distal Colon).

**(B-D)** Estimation of alpha-diversity by using the observed-richness, Shannon index and as well Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio.

**(E-G)** Analysis of Beta-diversity of intestinal microbiota on different anatomical sites. Variance effect size by using ADONIS test as well as NMDS ordination analysis using Bray-Curtis distances coming from luminal samples.





Figure 16 - The impact of Calorie Restriction on the gut microbiota in N and df/df mice

(A) Taxonomic bar plot of dominant bacterial families for each sample (top 16 Families) sorted through Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio.

**(B-D)** Differential abundance analysis (DA) in between df/df and also N mice by using LEfSe comparison at Genus level (log10(LDA score) > 3.5).

**(E)** Taxonomic bar plot of dominant bacterial families for each sample (top 16 Families) sorted by Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio.

**(F-G)** Differential abundance analysis (DA) in between df/df and N mice by using LEfSe comparison at Genus level (log10(LDA score) > 3.5).

### 5. Discussion

#### Insulin sensitivity in Ames dwarf mice

Enhanced longevity of GH-deficient df/df mice makes them a suitable model for aging research (BARTKE, BROWN-BORG, 2004; BROWN-BORG et al., 1996; MASTERNAK et al., 2004; MASTERNAK et al., 2005; MASTERNAK, BARTKE, 2007, 2012; MASTERNAK et al., 2009; MASTERNAK et al., 2010; TATAR et al., 2003; WANG et al., 2006). Moreover, there is strong evidence that these mice have enhanced insulin signaling, making them a valuable model for researching insulin as well as glucose metabolism (MASTERNAK et al., 2009; WANG et al., 2006). Previously published data reveal that the replacement of GH in these animals reverses their enhancement in insulin signaling and also reduces their life expectancy (MASTERNAK et al., 2010; PANICI et al., 2010). However, this strengthens the hypothesis that the main factor controlling lifespan and the metabolic environment of df/df mice is GH deficiency rather than PRL or TSH deficiency. As displayed in Fig. 5, df/df mice have significantly reduced fasting insulin levels compared to N mice, however they are still capable to sustain normal levels of fasting glucose. Earlier findings suggest that there is no distinction among glucose levels in df/df and N control mice throughout the young life as well as adult years. With aging of these animals, the GH-deficient df/df mice sustain lower glucose levels compared to their N control mice (LOUIS et al., 2010; MASTERNAK et al., 2004; MASTERNAK et al., 2005; MASTERNAK et al., 2009; MASTERNAK et al., 2010; MENON et al., 2014; PANICI et al., 2010). Healthy people also have no issues with increasing levels of fasting glucose, glucose intolerance or resistance to insulin. Nevertheless, there is a slight decrease in glucose tolerance in normal aging populations from the third decade of life, except of centenarians, which maintain a high insulin sensitivity throughout their whole lifetime (BARBIERI et al., 2003; DEFRONZO, 1981). Results of the clamp study revealed that df/df mice needed a ~2-fold higher glucose infusion rate to maintain glycemic levels similar to that of N control mice, suggesting improved insulin sensitivity and a greater suppression of glucose appearance in these long-living animals. In long-living df/df mice are the most remarkable metabolic phenotypes their enhanced insulin regulation and glucose homeostasis (BARTKE et al., 2013). The simultaneous decrease in both insulin and glucose levels demonstrates an improvement in the ability of insulin to clear glucose and shows a great protection from development of metabolic syndrome and diabetes. The explanations for their enhanced insulin sensitivity may be due in part attributable to improvements in the expression levels of hepatic genes which are associated with glucose metabolism (AL-REGAIEY et al., 2005) as well as improved insulin signaling in skeletal muscle. Importantly, it was shown that Ames dwarf mice have tendency to get obese, yet fat also help with greater clearance of glucose in df/df mice when compared with N control animals.

Furthermore, the study by Menon et al. showed that while removal of visceral fat in N mice improved insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance the same procedure had rather negative effects on glucose metabolism in healthy obese df/df animals indicating important role of all, liver, skeletal muscle and fat in maintaining high insulin sensitivity and improved glucose metabolism in df/df mice (MENON et al., 2014). The use of tracer techniques revealed that long-living df/df mice have a better hepatic insulin action than their N controls, which was shown through a complete suppression from endogenous rates by glucose appearance. However, these results sustain previous findings that show enhanced insulin sensitivity at the levels of insulin receptor (IR) and IR substrate-1 (IRS1) in the liver of long-living df/df mice (LOUIS et al., 2010; MASTERNAK et al., 2004; MASTERNAK et al., 2009; MASTERNAK al., 2010; PANICI et al., 2010). After acute insulin stimulation, the phosphorylation of the IR was significantly greater in df/df mice, however this effect was attenuated by the replacement of GH (MASTERNAK et al., 2010; PANICI et al., 2010). These results demonstrate that the liver plays a major role in controlling insulin sensitivity in df/df mice, which can add to a prolonged longevity. In the systemic regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism, the liver plays a major role and an aberrant hepatic insulin action is known to be a main driver of the insulin resistance, in which higher circulating insulin levels are required to regulate blood glucose levels adequately (SANTOLERI, TITCHENELL, 2019). Nonetheless, as already demonstrated before, the reactions to injected insulin (MASTERNAK et al., 2009) as well as the efficiency of glucose clearance (MASTERNAK et al., 2010; MENON et al., 2014) in these mice most likely require multiorgan action. The current research studies likewise show improved insulinstimulated gastrocnemius and also vastus muscle glucose uptake in df/df mice. This can additionally play an essential key role in preserving normal glucose levels in df/df animals identified by extremely reduced circulation insulin levels as the skeletal muscle stands for the main organs accountable for glucose clearance. It is also important in glucose metabolism regulation as it is well known that metabolic complications and insulin resistance often starts with resistance of insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle and observed high glucose uptake in df/df skeletal muscle indicate greater protection form metabolic complications. Notably, adipose tissue of df/df mice also displayed an enhanced uptake of glucose relative to adipose tissue from N animals in response to insulin stimulation. This supports the notion that adipose tissue plays an important role in regulating whole body levels of insulin sensitivity through GH's response. As previously revealed that surgical elimination of visceral fat enhances insulin sensitivity in N mice, whereas the exact same treatment either impaired insulin sensitivity or had no impact in neither GH-deficient df/df nor GH-resistant Laron dwarf mice (MASTERNAK et al., 2012; MENON et al., 2014). This presents an essential function of visceral fat, which is referred to as "bad" metabolic body fat, in keeping a well-balanced healthy glucose level as

well as high insulin sensitivity in these long-living mutants. The study further indicates that the repression of GH signaling substantially changes adipose tissue function on increased insulin sensitivity, which is possibly be mediated through impacts on adipose tissue glucose uptake. The results of previous research showed improved IR and IRS1 insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of df/df mouse in adipose tissue (MASTERNAK et al., 2010), that indicates more effective activation of insulin signal pathway in adipose tissue at cellular levels. This improved insulin signaling pathway is actually required to sustain a healthy glucose level along with a chronically reduced insulin level in long-living df/df mice. Surprisingly, the rates of brain glucose uptake in df/df mice were decreased. Usually, decreased brain glucose levels are linked to enhanced hepatic glucose production and as well reduced muscle and adipose glucose uptake, which was not seen in df/df mice. In addition, a reduced brain glucose supply is also linked to cognitive deficits, while df/df mice actually retain their cognitive function longer in comparison to their control mice (KINNEY et al., 2001). Therefore, the mechanism as well as the impacts of lowered brain glucose uptake in df/df mice needs still to be studied. However, it can be assumed that it is an adjustment to low glucose levels in df/df species. Notably, it is not required to support whole-body insulin sensitivity through increased insulin signaling action in all target insulin organs. It might offer the proof that some blockade or suppression of the cellular signal can be advantageous for health and aging. The over-expression of the Klotho gene has been mentioned to prolong the lifespan of mice however at the same time it also generates insulin resistance (KURO-O et al., 1997; KUROSU et al., 2005). In a similar way, rapamycin therapy prolongs lifespan and inhibits insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance instead of increasing it, which means that suppression of insulin signaling or parts of the signal may also be advantageous for healthy aging at certain stages of life (BARTKE, 2006; FANG, BARTKE, 2013; KURO-O et al., 1997; KUROSU et al., 2005). It was hypothesized that the adjustment to low glucose uptake in df/df brain could be similar to the condition existing throughout CR or starvation which might be important to maintain the healthy brain function throughout the lifespan as well as aging. As this interesting phenomenon should be further investigated in the future, one might speculate that it could be related to preservation rather than over activation of PI3K/AKT and mTOR signaling pathway in the brain.

To sum up, hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp studies show enhanced tissue-specific insulin sensitivity in long-living df/df mice. This effect is mediated through changes on insulin action in hepatic, muscle and as well fat tissue. These practical data are related to the past studies, presenting increased insulin signaling in these tissues responsive to insulin (LOUIS et al., 2010; MASTERNAK et al., 2004; MASTERNAK et al., 2005; MASTERNAK et al., 2009; MASTERNAK et al., 2010; MENON et al., 2014; PANICI et al., 2010; WANG et al., 2006). Taken all together, these results point to the fact that enriched insulin sensitivity in various

organ systems and the ensuing enhancement in total metabolic status can lead to prolonged life span of df/df mice (BARTKE, WESTBROOK, 2012; MENON et al., 2014; WESTBROOK et al., 2009).

#### Impact of Ames dwarfism and CR on gut microbiota

Considering that the gut is one of the main entrances to the body, it is well equipped with a complex intrinsic immune system. Actually, the gut is also one of the most important organs in regulating food processing, nutrient intake and immune system function. One of the most essential requirements for healthy aging as well as extended lifespan is preserving a healthy gut microbiome. Ames dwarf mice live longer and healthier lives than their N-littermate controls, however, the gut microbiota has never been studied before in these long-living df/df mice. In this study the changes in the gut microbiome of GH-deficient df/df mice relative to their N littermate control mice were assessed. This study was carried out in both parents and offspring, considering gender and also genotype. In addition, three different GI locations (Ileum, Cecum, and Distal Colon) changes in the intestinal microbiota in CR-treated in comparison with the AL-fed N and df/df mice were assessed. Throughout the study, significant changes could be demonstrated in the composition of gut microbiota in long-living df/df mice relative to N mice. Taking into account the same parents, the same diet, and an environment which is free of pathogens as formerly defined, indicates that the bacterial composition in the gut of those mice is regulated by GH deficiency and that cecum and colon intestinal communities are variably affected by genotype, which indicate that genetic alterations might be more impactful on the microbiome than just environment and diets. Furthermore, these findings indicated that the composition of microbiota between df/df mice and their N controls was strongly modified at 70 days of age, and there were minor variations in the composition of microbiota among df/df mice relative to the overall difference between df/df and N mice. These outcomes support the importance of genotype-dependent alterations in the microbiota composition. In this current research analysis, the ratio among Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes (B/F ratio), also well-known as indicator for a healthy microbiota, was quantified (BRUSSOW, 2013; LEY et al., 2006). These two major bacterial phyla, Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes which were described above, are the most dominant bacteria in the intestine with an abundance of more than 99%. (DIBAISE et al., 2008). Human studies have demonstrated that the ratio of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes is associated with body weight. In overweight subjects, it was discovered that the intestinal microbiota used to have a higher proportion of Firmicutes and lower population of Bacteroidetes when contrasted to lean subjects, also the proportion of Bacteroidetes was higher on a lower calorie diet with weight loss (LEY et al., 2006).

Furthermore, the B/F ratio in ob/ob mice has also changed (LEY et al., 2005). Most notably, these results indicate that the B/F ratio of df/df mice compared with the N littermate controls is significantly higher. Research studies were also associated with changes in the B/F ratio with aging in humans (MARIAT et al., 2009) and also in younger mice the B/F ratio is higher compared to older mice (SPYCHALA et al., 2018). Hence, for these long-living df/df mice, this special composition of the intestinal microbiota in df/df mice can therefore be considered as advantageous. Muribaculaceae, which was formerly referred to the Bacteroidales S24-7, is a member of the phylum Bacteroidetes and the Lachnospiraceae, Ruminococcaceae, Lactobacillaceae as well as Erysipelotrichaceae belongs to the phylum Firmicutes (SMITH et al., 2019). In both genotypes, the bacteria of Muribaculaceae, Lachnospiraceae and Lactobacillaceae were recognized. In particular, df/df mice showed a higher number of Muribaculaceae, Enterococcaeceae, Enterobacteriaceae, Clostridialesvadin BB60 group, and Porphyromonadaceae, while the number of Lactobacillaceae, Rikenellaceae, and Planococcaceae were lower relative to their N littermate controls. The Bacteroidales diversity is known to increase in humans through childhood (ENCK et al., 2009; HOPKINS, MACFARLANE, 2002) and reaches adult levels at approximately 17 years of age (BALAMURUGAN et al., 2008). Through the entire life, the amount of Bacteroides remains nearly stable, but decreases throughout aging (MARIAT et al., 2009). In this research study, it was shown an accumulation of the Muribaculaceae bacterial family, which belongs to the order Bacteroidales, in df/df mice. In previous studies, it has been revealed that the Rikenellaceae family was detected in the microbiome of older people (CLAESSON et al., 2012). Remarkably, the quantity of this bacteria family is reduced in long-lived df/df mice whereas it is enhanced in N mice. It might indicate that the Rikenellaceae family is playing a crucial role in the regulation of lifespan. This research study showed that GH deficiency impacts the intestine microbiota early throughout postnatal development. The composition of microbiota can be influenced by many factors such as diet or environmental conditions. Remarkably, in df/df mice one OTU Lactobacillus with an enhanced abundance in this research study. In previous studies, it has been formerly reported that raised levels of Lactobacilli as well as Enterococci were found in older people relative to young adults (SALAZAR et al., 2017). Nonetheless, others showed that Lactobacilli were expressed in lower quantities in the elderly compared to young adults. Moreover no variations were identified in the levels of Bacteroides and Eubacterium (HOPKINS et al., 2001). In addition, it has been stated that the composition of the bacteria in the gut is really variable in elderly people (CLAESSON et al., 2011; CLAESSON et al., 2012). Current studies have consistently demonstrated lower Bacteroides and Eubacterium levels in elderly people contrasted to younger individuals (HARMSEN et al., 2000; HILL et al., 2016). In general, throughout early development, the data showed significant modifications in the

microbiota. In the literature, there is strong evidence that shifts in microbiota are even greater in humans as well as animals during advanced aging (MAFFEI et al., 2017). Animals were not tracked throughout the entire aging process, but it was plainly shown how a distinct microbiome evolves in extended longevity models during early life. It is believed that it might be also relevant and insightful to investigate the microbiota throughout early postnatal development regarding the impact on aging and in particular in its intersection with GH signaling. In recent studies it was shown that a short treatment with GH for 6 weeks using GH-deficient df/df mice throughout early development pre-programmed the lifespan of these mice by shortening their longevity (PANICI et al., 2010). This result suggests that physiological changes based on GH during early development could stand for an important pre-programming factor in the aging process. In general, this may indicate that throughout early development the distinctions in gut microbiota in GH-deficient mice may represent important changes in bacteria populations, which promote healthy lifespan during aging. Nonetheless, further follow-up studies are needed in these long-lived dwarf mice to investigate longitudinal changes in gut microbiome. It is also required to follow-up with translational research studies in order to offer a better relevance of these results to human aging. As mentioned earlier, several important similarities exist, i.e., low abundance of Rikenellaceae in long-living df/df mice already at a young age as compared to N mice, whereas in humans these bacteria are known to be increased during aging. This could imply that from early life on, df/df mice are shielded from overpopulations of these bacteria. Nonetheless, until further longitudinal studies are available, this can only be hypothesized. Most importantly, in order to achieve a better significance for these results and their translational significance, it would be of great benefit to follow up on microbiota studies in humans with IGHD type 1B, caused by a mutation of the GHRH receptor gene or as well individuals which are affected by Laron dwarfism (AGUIAR-OLIVEIRA, BARTKE, 2019). As reported in previous studies, the genus Lactobacillus was found to be significantly enhanced in CR (FRAUMENE et al., 2018). The increase in relative abundance of Lactobacillus, sets well to lower levels of cholesterol and triglycerides as a result of CR (FRAUMENE et al., 2018), while it is not clear which modifications occurs first. Calorie restriction is a widely known experimental approach which can result in lowered bodyweight, lowered plasma insulin and also glucose levels, as well as improved insulin level of sensitivity, health span and also life expectancy (ANDERSON et al., 2009). There is limited knowledge about the impact of CR on gut microbiota; nonetheless, previous studies revealed that diet regimen is an important aspect influencing the intestinal microbiota throughout aging (YATSUNENKO et al., 2012). The gut microbiota plays an essential function in regulating the impacts of a diet regimen treatment consisting of weight-loss, maintaining a high basal metabolism rate and reducing blood glucose and serum cholesterol levels (WANG et al., 2018). In fact, antibiotic treatment has been shown to remove the metabolic-regulatory roles of the bacteria in the intestine as well as leads to loss of the health benefit of the intestinal microbiota (WANG et al., 2018). In this study, it was intended to explore how the CR treatment in df/df as well as N control mice would influence the composition of the bacteria in three various GI locations. The impact of CR was strongly marked on the microbiome in N in contrast to df/df mice. Furthermore, an overabundance of various members of the order Bacteroidales in ileum in N-AL mice and a significant improvement of the Erysipelotrichaceae family in cecum as well as colon was seen. Nevertheless, the bacteria family Erysipelotrichaceae did not show any alterations in the CR experiments. However, Erysipelotrichaceae plays an important role in the development of metabolic disorders (KAAKOUSH, 2015). In addition, in obese individuals there were greater amounts of this bacteria family found (ZHANG et al., 2009). A current research revealed that a depletion of gut microbiota made mice resistant to CR-induced loss of body weight, leading to enhanced fat mass (WANG et al., 2018), which indicates that the microbiota could be the crucial mediator of CR effects. Actually, the results revealed that df/df mice take profit from the impacts of CR (BARTKE et al., 2001a). Nevertheless, changes in body weight are not as marked as in N mice (MASTERNAK et al., 2004), as well as some impacts on insulin signaling are actually eliminated through GH substitute (GESING et al., 2014). This data is consistent with the current observations that the microbiota diversity in df/df mice is actually much less influenced through CR as in N mice. Due to these and earlier findings, not every mouse model has a benefit of CR effects on the lifespan. As a result, a detailed investigation of the microbiota in humans subjected to long-term CR would be beneficial for future functional research studies, which may be followed up with ongoing human CR studies or with the support of volunteers participating in CRON-diet investigations (Calorie Restriction with Optimal Nutrition).

Summarizing, this research study highlights that GH-deficient df/df mice have a distinct gut microbiota in comparison to N animals. During the postnatal development, there were significant differences in the B/F ratio as well as genotype-dependent changes in the microbiota composition. Additionally, results revealed that modifications of the microbiota from df/df mice were related with parental vertical transmission. Moreover, it was found that alterations in intestinal microbiota were more apparent in N than df/df mice after a dietary treatment, indicating the different impacts of CR on the various starting microbial communities. In order to better understand the function of GH deficiency and CR in the regulation of the gut microbiome probably conduces to the phenotypic differences and health benefits observed in long-lived df/df mice and it could be considered as new potential hallmark of age-

### 6. Conclusions

These results of the Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study showed improvements in whole-body insulin sensitivity in long-living df/df mice, which is primarily driven by a hepatic effect with a smaller contribution from muscle and fat glucose uptake, which was published by our team (WIESENBORN et al., 2014a). Based on these findings it may be inferred that the increased insulin sensitivity in the different insulin-responsive tissues leads to a significant improvement in metabolism, which in turn could lead to a longer lifespan of df/df mice.

These findings regarding to the development of the gut microbiota composition during early life displayed significant differences in df/df and N mice. Already during this early aging process, distinctions in the abundance of various bacteria between df/df and N mice were found. Another interesting finding in the present study with additionally CR treatment concerned the significant differences of the gut microbiome in the GI location, genotype and as well the diet experiment, both findings were published by our team (WIESENBORN et al., 2019). Based on these results it can be concluded that the gut microbiota plays a key role already during early life regarding to longevity in df/df mice. In addition to that CR could even regulate the lifespan by affecting the gut microbiota. Since the gut microbiota in long-living df/df mice was studied for the first time, more studies would be needed to better understand the function of GH deficiency and CR in the regulation of the intestinal microbiota.

### 7. References

- 1. Aagaard K, Ma J, Antony KM, Ganu R, Petrosino J, Versalovic J (2014) The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. Sci Transl Med 6:237ra265
- 2. Aguiar-Oliveira MH, Bartke A (2019) Growth Hormone Deficiency: Health and Longevity. Endocr Rev 40:575-601
- 3. Al-Regaiey KA, Masternak MM, Bonkowski M, Sun L, Bartke A (2005) Long-lived growth hormone receptor knockout mice: interaction of reduced insulin-like growth factor i/insulin signaling and caloric restriction. Endocrinology 146:851-860
- 4. Anderson RM, Shanmuganayagam D, Weindruch R (2009) Caloric restriction and aging: studies in mice and monkeys. Toxicol Pathol 37:47-51
- Atuma C, Strugala V, Allen A, Holm L (2001) The adherent gastrointestinal mucus gel layer: thickness and physical state in vivo. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 280:G922-929
- 6. Ayala JE, Bracy DP, McGuinness OP, Wasserman DH (2006) Considerations in the design of hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps in the conscious mouse. Diabetes 55:390-397
- 7. Ayala JE, Bracy DP, Julien BM, Rottman JN, Fueger PT, Wasserman DH (2007) Chronic treatment with sildenafil improves energy balance and insulin action in high fat-fed conscious mice. Diabetes 56:1025-1033
- 8. Ayala JE, Bracy DP, Hansotia T, Flock G, Seino Y, Wasserman DH, Drucker DJ (2008) Insulin action in the double incretin receptor knockout mouse. Diabetes 57:288-297
- 9. Ayala JE, Bracy DP, Malabanan C, James FD, Ansari T, Fueger PT, McGuinness OP, Wasserman DH (2011) Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps in conscious, unrestrained mice. J Vis Exp
- 10. Balamurugan R, Janardhan HP, George S, Chittaranjan SP, Ramakrishna BS (2008) Bacterial succession in the colon during childhood and adolescence: molecular studies in a southern Indian village. Am J Clin Nutr 88:1643-1647
- 11. Barbieri M, Rizzo MR, Manzella D, Grella R, Ragno E, Carbonella M, Abbatecola AM, Paolisso G (2003) Glucose regulation and oxidative stress in healthy centenarians. Exp Gerontol 38:137-143
- Barros FC, Matijasevich A, Hallal PC, Horta BL, Barros AJ, Menezes AB, Santos IS, Gigante DP, Victora CG (2012) Cesarean section and risk of obesity in childhood, adolescence, and early adulthood: evidence from 3 Brazilian birth cohorts. Am J Clin Nutr 95:465-470
- 13. Bartke A (1964) Histology of the Anterior Hypophysis, Thyroid and Gonads of Two Types of Dwarf Mice. Anat Rec 149:225-235
- 14. Bartke A (2000) Delayed aging in Ames dwarf mice. Relationships to endocrine function and body size. Results Probl Cell Differ 29:181-202

- 15. Bartke A, Brown-Borg H, Mattison J, Kinney B, Hauck S, Wright C (2001a) Prolonged longevity of hypopituitary dwarf mice. Exp Gerontol 36:21-28
- 16. Bartke A, Wright JC, Mattison JA, Ingram DK, Miller RA, Roth GS (2001b) Extending the lifespan of long-lived mice. Nature 414:412
- 17. Bartke A, Wright JC, Mattison JA, Ingram DK, Miller RA, Roth GS (2002) Dietary restriction and life-span. Science 296:2141-2142; author reply 2141-2142
- 18. Bartke A, Brown-Borg H (2004) Life extension in the dwarf mouse. Curr Top Dev Biol 63:189-225
- 19. Bartke A (2006) Long-lived Klotho mice: new insights into the roles of IGF-1 and insulin in aging. Trends Endocrinol Metab 17:33-35
- 20. Bartke A, Masternak MM, Al-Regaiey KA, Bonkowski MS (2007) Effects of dietary restriction on the expression of insulin-signaling-related genes in long-lived mutant mice. Interdiscip Top Gerontol 35:69-82
- 21. Bartke A, Westbrook R (2012) Metabolic characteristics of long-lived mice. Front Genet 3:288
- 22. Bartke A, Sun LY, Longo V (2013) Somatotropic signaling: trade-offs between growth, reproductive development, and longevity. Physiol Rev 93:571-598
- 23. Bartke A (2016) Healthspan and longevity can be extended by suppression of growth hormone signaling. Mamm Genome 27:289-299
- 24. Bauer KC, Huus KE, Finlay BB (2016) Microbes and the mind: emerging hallmarks of the gut microbiota-brain axis. Cell Microbiol 18:632-644
- 25. Baumann G (2002) Growth hormone binding protein. The soluble growth hormone receptor. Minerva Endocrinol 27:265-276
- 26. Bel S, Pendse M, Wang Y, Li Y, Ruhn KA, Hassell B, Leal T, Winter SE, Xavier RJ, Hooper LV (2017) Paneth cells secrete lysozyme via secretory autophagy during bacterial infection of the intestine. Science 357:1047-1052
- 27. Berglund ED, Li CY, Poffenberger G, Ayala JE, Fueger PT, Willis SE, Jewell MM, Powers AC, Wasserman DH (2008) Glucose metabolism in vivo in four commonly used inbred mouse strains. Diabetes 57:1790-1799
- 28. Blagosklonny MV (2011) Rapamycin-induced glucose intolerance: hunger or starvation diabetes. Cell Cycle 10:4217-4224
- 29. Bonkowski MS, Rocha JS, Masternak MM, Al Regaiey KA, Bartke A (2006) Targeted disruption of growth hormone receptor interferes with the beneficial actions of calorie restriction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:7901-7905
- 30. Bonkowski MS, Dominici FP, Arum O, Rocha JS, Al Regaiey KA, Westbrook R, Spong A, Panici J, Masternak MM, Kopchick JJ, Bartke A (2009) Disruption of growth hormone receptor prevents calorie restriction from improving insulin action and longevity. PLoS One 4:e4567

- 31. Borre YE, O'Keeffe GW, Clarke G, Stanton C, Dinan TG, Cryan JF (2014) Microbiota and neurodevelopmental windows: implications for brain disorders. Trends Mol Med 20:509-518
- 32. Brown-Borg HM, Borg KE, Meliska CJ, Bartke A (1996) Dwarf mice and the ageing process. Nature 384:33
- 33. Brussow H (2013) Microbiota and healthy ageing: observational and nutritional intervention studies. Microb Biotechnol 6:326-334
- 34. Candela M, Biagi E, Brigidi P, O'Toole PW, De Vos WM (2014) Maintenance of a healthy trajectory of the intestinal microbiome during aging: a dietary approach. Mech Ageing Dev 136-137:70-75
- 35. Caporaso JG, Lauber CL, Walters WA, Berg-Lyons D, Lozupone CA, Turnbaugh PJ, Fierer N, Knight R (2011) Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108 Suppl 1:4516-4522
- 36. Casteleyn C, Rekecki A, Van der Aa A, Simoens P, Van den Broeck W (2010) Surface area assessment of the murine intestinal tract as a prerequisite for oral dose translation from mouse to man. Lab Anim 44:176-183
- 37. Chang AM, Halter JB (2003) Aging and insulin secretion. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 284:E7-12
- 38. Claesson MJ, Cusack S, O'Sullivan O, Greene-Diniz R, de Weerd H, Flannery E, Marchesi JR, Falush D, Dinan T, Fitzgerald G, Stanton C, van Sinderen D, O'Connor M, Harnedy N, O'Connor K, Henry C, O'Mahony D, Fitzgerald AP, Shanahan F, Twomey C, Hill C, Ross RP, O'Toole PW (2011) Composition, variability, and temporal stability of the intestinal microbiota of the elderly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108 Suppl 1:4586-4591
- Claesson MJ, Jeffery IB, Conde S, Power SE, O'Connor EM, Cusack S, Harris HM, Coakley M, Lakshminarayanan B, O'Sullivan O, Fitzgerald GF, Deane J, O'Connor M, Harnedy N, O'Connor K, O'Mahony D, van Sinderen D, Wallace M, Brennan L, Stanton C, Marchesi JR, Fitzgerald AP, Shanahan F, Hill C, Ross RP, O'Toole PW (2012) Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly. Nature 488:178-184
- 40. Clevers H, Batlle E (2013) SnapShot: the intestinal crypt. Cell 152:1198-1198 e1192
- 41. Collado MC, Rautava S, Isolauri E, Salminen S (2015) Gut microbiota: a source of novel tools to reduce the risk of human disease? Pediatr Res 77:182-188
- 42. Dave M, Higgins PD, Middha S, Rioux KP (2012) The human gut microbiome: current knowledge, challenges, and future directions. Transl Res 160:246-257
- 43. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, Ling AV, Devlin AS, Varma Y, Fischbach MA, Biddinger SB, Dutton RJ, Turnbaugh PJ (2014) Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature 505:559-563
- 44. Debodo RC, Steele R, Altszuler N, Dunn A, Bishop JS (1963) On the Hormonal Regulation of Carbohydrate Metabolism; Studies with C14 Glucose. Recent Prog Horm Res 19:445-488

- 45. Decker E, Hornef M, Stockinger S (2011) Cesarean delivery is associated with celiac disease but not inflammatory bowel disease in children. Gut Microbes 2:91-98
- 46. DeFronzo RA (1981) Glucose intolerance and aging. Diabetes Care 4:493-501
- 47. DiBaise JK, Zhang H, Crowell MD, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Decker GA, Rittmann BE (2008) Gut microbiota and its possible relationship with obesity. Mayo Clin Proc 83:460-469
- 48. Donaldson GP, Lee SM, Mazmanian SK (2016) Gut biogeography of the bacterial microbiota. Nat Rev Microbiol 14:20-32
- 49. Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, Gill SR, Nelson KE, Relman DA (2005) Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. Science 308:1635-1638
- 50. Edgar RC (2013) UPARSE: highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads. Nat Methods 10:996-998
- 51. Ehmann D, Wendler J, Koeninger L, Larsen IS, Klag T, Berger J, Marette A, Schaller M, Stange EF, Malek NP, Jensen BAH, Wehkamp J (2019) Paneth cell alpha-defensins HD-5 and HD-6 display differential degradation into active antimicrobial fragments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116:3746-3751
- 52. Enck P, Zimmermann K, Rusch K, Schwiertz A, Klosterhalfen S, Frick JS (2009) The effects of maturation on the colonic microflora in infancy and childhood. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2009:752401
- 53. Everitt AV, Hilmer SN, Brand-Miller JC, Jamieson HA, Truswell AS, Sharma AP, Mason RS, Morris BJ, Le Couteur DG (2006) Dietary approaches that delay age-related diseases. Clin Interv Aging 1:11-31
- 54. Fang Y, Bartke A (2013) Prolonged rapamycin treatment led to beneficial metabolic switch. Aging (Albany NY) 5:328-329
- 55. Fang Y, McFadden S, Darcy J, Hascup ER, Hascup KN, Bartke A (2020) Lifespan of long-lived growth hormone receptor knockout mice was not normalized by housing at 30 degrees C since weaning. Aging Cell:e13123
- 56. Fernandez L, Langa S, Martin V, Maldonado A, Jimenez E, Martin R, Rodriguez JM (2013) The human milk microbiota: origin and potential roles in health and disease. Pharmacol Res 69:1-10
- 57. Finch C, Hayflick L (1977) Handbook of the biology of aging (New York, Van Nostrand Reinhold Co.).
- 58. Flurkey K, Papaconstantinou J, Miller RA, Harrison DE (2001) Lifespan extension and delayed immune and collagen aging in mutant mice with defects in growth hormone production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:6736-6741
- 59. Fontana L, Meyer TE, Klein S, Holloszy JO (2004) Long-term calorie restriction is highly effective in reducing the risk for atherosclerosis in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:6659-6663

- 60. Fontana L, Partridge L, Longo VD (2010) Extending healthy life span--from yeast to humans. Science 328:321-326
- Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, De Benedictis G (2000) Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci 908:244-254
- 62. Fraumene C, Manghina V, Cadoni E, Marongiu F, Abbondio M, Serra M, Palomba A, Tanca A, Laconi E, Uzzau S (2018) Caloric restriction promotes rapid expansion and long-lasting increase of Lactobacillus in the rat fecal microbiota. Gut Microbes 9:104-114
- 63. Freid VM, Bernstein AB, Bush MA (2012) Multiple chronic conditions among adults aged 45 and over: trends over the past 10 years. NCHS Data Brief:1-8
- 64. Galvez EJC, Iljazovic A, Gronow A, Flavell R, Strowig T (2017) Shaping of Intestinal Microbiota in NIrp6- and Rag2-Deficient Mice Depends on Community Structure. Cell Rep 21:3914-3926
- 65. Gassler N (2017) Paneth cells in intestinal physiology and pathophysiology. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol 8:150-160
- 66. Gerritsen J, Smidt H, Rijkers GT, de Vos WM (2011) Intestinal microbiota in human health and disease: the impact of probiotics. Genes Nutr 6:209-240
- 67. Gesing A, Al-Regaiey KA, Bartke A, Masternak MM (2014) Growth hormone abolishes beneficial effects of calorie restriction in long-lived Ames dwarf mice. Exp Gerontol 58:219-229
- 68. Gesing A, Wiesenborn D, Do A, Menon V, Schneider A, Victoria B, Stout MB, Kopchick JJ, Bartke A, Masternak MM (2017) A Long-lived Mouse Lacking Both Growth Hormone and Growth Hormone Receptor: A New Animal Model for Aging Studies. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 72:1054-1061
- 69. Gu S, Chen D, Zhang JN, Lv X, Wang K, Duan LP, Nie Y, Wu XL (2013) Bacterial community mapping of the mouse gastrointestinal tract. PLoS One 8:e74957
- 70. Harmsen HJ, Wildeboer-Veloo AC, Grijpstra J, Knol J, Degener JE, Welling GW (2000) Development of 16S rRNA-based probes for the Coriobacterium group and the Atopobium cluster and their application for enumeration of Coriobacteriaceae in human feces from volunteers of different age groups. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4523-4527
- 71. Harrison DE, Strong R, Sharp ZD, Nelson JF, Astle CM, Flurkey K, Nadon NL, Wilkinson JE, Frenkel K, Carter CS, Pahor M, Javors MA, Fernandez E, Miller RA (2009) Rapamycin fed late in life extends lifespan in genetically heterogeneous mice. Nature 460:392-395
- 72. Hauck SJ, Hunter WS, Danilovich N, Kopchick JJ, Bartke A (2001) Reduced levels of thyroid hormones, insulin, and glucose, and lower body core temperature in the growth hormone receptor/binding protein knockout mouse. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 226:552-558
- 73. Hill CJ, Brown JR, Lynch DB, Jeffery IB, Ryan CA, Ross RP, Stanton C, O'Toole PW (2016) Effect of room temperature transport vials on DNA quality and phylogenetic composition of faecal microbiota of elderly adults and infants. Microbiome 4:19

- 74. Hopkins MJ, Sharp R, Macfarlane GT (2001) Age and disease related changes in intestinal bacterial populations assessed by cell culture, 16S rRNA abundance, and community cellular fatty acid profiles. Gut 48:198-205
- 75. Hopkins MJ, Macfarlane GT (2002) Changes in predominant bacterial populations in human faeces with age and with Clostridium difficile infection. J Med Microbiol 51:448-454
- 76. Howell JC, Wells JM (2011) Generating intestinal tissue from stem cells: potential for research and therapy. Regen Med 6:743-755
- 77. Hsieh CC, DeFord JH, Flurkey K, Harrison DE, Papaconstantinou J (2002) Effects of the Pit1 mutation on the insulin signaling pathway: implications on the longevity of the long-lived Snell dwarf mouse. Mech Ageing Dev 123:1245-1255
- Hunter WS, Croson WB, Bartke A, Gentry MV, Meliska CJ (1999) Low body temperature in long-lived Ames dwarf mice at rest and during stress. Physiol Behav 67:433-437
- 79. Ikeno Y, Bronson RT, Hubbard GB, Lee S, Bartke A (2003) Delayed occurrence of fatal neoplastic diseases in ames dwarf mice: correlation to extended longevity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 58:291-296
- 80. Jia K, Chen D, Riddle DL (2004) The TOR pathway interacts with the insulin signaling pathway to regulate C. elegans larval development, metabolism and life span. Development 131:3897-3906
- 81. Jin K (2010) Modern Biological Theories of Aging. Aging Dis 1:72-74
- 82. Johansson ME, Larsson JM, Hansson GC (2011) The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108 Suppl 1:4659-4665
- Jones JH, Lennard-Jones JE, Morson BC, Chapman M, Sackin MJ, Sneath PH, Spicer CC, Card WI (1973) Numerical taxonomy and discriminant analysis applied to nonspecific colitis. Q J Med 42:715-732
- 84. Kaakoush NO (2015) Insights into the Role of Erysipelotrichaceae in the Human Host. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 5:84
- 85. Kaeberlein M, Powers RW, 3rd, Steffen KK, Westman EA, Hu D, Dang N, Kerr EO, Kirkland KT, Fields S, Kennedy BK (2005) Regulation of yeast replicative life span by TOR and Sch9 in response to nutrients. Science 310:1193-1196
- Kapahi P, Zid BM, Harper T, Koslover D, Sapin V, Benzer S (2004) Regulation of lifespan in Drosophila by modulation of genes in the TOR signaling pathway. Curr Biol 14:885-890
- 87. Kelly JR, Kennedy PJ, Cryan JF, Dinan TG, Clarke G, Hyland NP (2015) Breaking down the barriers: the gut microbiome, intestinal permeability and stress-related psychiatric disorders. Front Cell Neurosci 9:392
- 88. Kiela PR, Ghishan FK (2016) Physiology of Intestinal Absorption and Secretion. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 30:145-159

- 89. Kinney BA, Meliska CJ, Steger RW, Bartke A (2001) Evidence that Ames dwarf mice age differently from their normal siblings in behavioral and learning and memory parameters. Horm Behav 39:277-284
- 90. Kintscher U, Hartge M, Hess K, Foryst-Ludwig A, Clemenz M, Wabitsch M, Fischer-Posovszky P, Barth TF, Dragun D, Skurk T, Hauner H, Bluher M, Unger T, Wolf AM, Knippschild U, Hombach V, Marx N (2008) T-lymphocyte infiltration in visceral adipose tissue: a primary event in adipose tissue inflammation and the development of obesitymediated insulin resistance. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28:1304-1310
- 91. Kraegen EW, James DE, Jenkins AB, Chisholm DJ (1985) Dose-response curves for in vivo insulin sensitivity in individual tissues in rats. Am J Physiol 248:E353-362
- 92. Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, Ohyama Y, Kurabayashi M, Kaname T, Kume E, Iwasaki H, Iida A, Shiraki-Iida T, Nishikawa S, Nagai R, Nabeshima YI (1997) Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. Nature 390:45-51
- 93. Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, McGuinness OP, Chikuda H, Yamaguchi M, Kawaguchi H, Shimomura I, Takayama Y, Herz J, Kahn CR, Rosenblatt KP, Kuro-o M (2005) Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho. Science 309:1829-1833
- 94. Lago F, Dieguez C, Gomez-Reino J, Gualillo O (2007) Adipokines as emerging mediators of immune response and inflammation. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 3:716-724
- 95. Lamming DW, Ye L, Katajisto P, Goncalves MD, Saitoh M, Stevens DM, Davis JG, Salmon AB, Richardson A, Ahima RS, Guertin DA, Sabatini DM, Baur JA (2012) Rapamycin-induced insulin resistance is mediated by mTORC2 loss and uncoupled from longevity. Science 335:1638-1643
- 96. Ley RE, Backhed F, Turnbaugh P, Lozupone CA, Knight RD, Gordon JI (2005) Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:11070-11075
- 97. Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI (2006) Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity. Nature 444:1022-1023
- 98. Li J, Jia H, Cai X, Zhong H, Feng Q, Sunagawa S, Arumugam M, Kultima JR, Prifti E, Nielsen T, Juncker AS, Manichanh C, Chen B, Zhang W, Levenez F, Wang J, Xu X, Xiao L, Liang S, Zhang D, Zhang Z, Chen W, Zhao H, Al-Aama JY, Edris S, Yang H, Wang J, Hansen T, Nielsen HB, Brunak S, Kristiansen K, Guarner F, Pedersen O, Dore J, Ehrlich SD, Meta HITC, Bork P, Wang J, Meta HITC (2014) An integrated catalog of reference genes in the human gut microbiome. Nat Biotechnol 32:834-841
- 99. Louis A, Bartke A, Masternak MM (2010) Effects of growth hormone and thyroxine replacement therapy on insulin signaling in Ames dwarf mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 65:344-352
- 100. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S (2014) Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol 15:550
- 101. Mabbott NA, Donaldson DS, Ohno H, Williams IR, Mahajan A (2013) Microfold (M) cells: important immunosurveillance posts in the intestinal epithelium. Mucosal Immunol 6:666-677
- 102. Maffei VJ, Kim S, Blanchard Et, Luo M, Jazwinski SM, Taylor CM, Welsh DA (2017) Biological Aging and the Human Gut Microbiota. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 72:1474-1482
- Mariat D, Firmesse O, Levenez F, Guimaraes V, Sokol H, Dore J, Corthier G, Furet JP (2009) The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio of the human microbiota changes with age. BMC Microbiol 9:123
- 104. Markle JG, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, Robertson CE, Feazel LM, Rolle-Kampczyk U, von Bergen M, McCoy KD, Macpherson AJ, Danska JS (2013) Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science 339:1084-1088
- 105. Masoro EJ, Katz MS, McMahan CA (1989) Evidence for the glycation hypothesis of aging from the food-restricted rodent model. J Gerontol 44:B20-22
- 106. Masoro EJ (2006) Role of hormesis in life extension by caloric restriction. Dose Response 5:163-173
- 107. Masternak MM, Al-Regaiey K, Bonkowski MS, Panici J, Sun L, Wang J, Przybylski GK, Bartke A (2004) Divergent effects of caloric restriction on gene expression in normal and long-lived mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 59:784-788
- Masternak MM, Al-Regaiey KA, Bonkowski MS, Panici JA, Bartke A (2005) Effect of every other day feeding diet on gene expression in normal and in long-lived Ames dwarf mice. Exp Gerontol 40:491-497
- 109. Masternak MM, Bartke A (2007) PPARs in Calorie Restricted and Genetically Long-Lived Mice. PPAR Res 2007:28436
- 110. Masternak MM, Panici JA, Bonkowski MS, Hughes LF, Bartke A (2009) Insulin sensitivity as a key mediator of growth hormone actions on longevity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 64:516-521
- 111. Masternak MM, Panici JA, Wang F, Wang Z, Spong A (2010) The effects of growth hormone (GH) treatment on GH and insulin/IGF-1 signaling in long-lived Ames dwarf mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 65:24-30
- 112. Masternak MM, Bartke A (2012) Growth hormone, inflammation and aging. Pathobiol Aging Age Relat Dis 2
- 113. Masternak MM, Bartke A, Wang F, Spong A, Gesing A, Fang Y, Salmon AB, Hughes LF, Liberati T, Boparai R, Kopchick JJ, Westbrook R (2012) Metabolic effects of intraabdominal fat in GHRKO mice. Aging Cell 11:73-81
- 114. Mattison JA, Wright C, Bronson RT, Roth GS, Ingram DK, Bartke A (2000) Studies of aging in ames dwarf mice: Effects of caloric restriction. J Am Aging Assoc 23:9-16
- 115. Mayer EA (2011) Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. Nat Rev Neurosci 12:453-466
- 116. McCay CM, Maynard LA, Sperling G, Barnes LL (1975) The Journal of Nutrition. Volume 18 July--December, 1939. Pages 1--13. Retarded growth, life span, ultimate body size and age changes in the albino rat after feeding diets restricted in calories. Nutr Rev 33:241-243

- 117. McGuinness OP, Ayala JE, Laughlin MR, Wasserman DH (2009) NIH experiment in centralized mouse phenotyping: the Vanderbilt experience and recommendations for evaluating glucose homeostasis in the mouse. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 297:E849-855
- 118. McMurdie PJ, Holmes S (2013) phyloseq: an R package for reproducible interactive analysis and graphics of microbiome census data. PLoS One 8:e61217
- 119. Menon V, Zhi X, Hossain T, Bartke A, Spong A, Gesing A, Masternak MM (2014) The contribution of visceral fat to improved insulin signaling in Ames dwarf mice. Aging Cell
- Meyer TE, Kovacs SJ, Ehsani AA, Klein S, Holloszy JO, Fontana L (2006) Long-term caloric restriction ameliorates the decline in diastolic function in humans. J Am Coll Cardiol 47:398-402
- 121. Miller AM, Brestoff JR, Phelps CB, Berk EZ, Reynolds THt (2008) Rapamycin does not improve insulin sensitivity despite elevated mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 activity in muscles of ob/ob mice. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 295:R1431-1438
- 122. Miller RA, Harrison DE, Astle CM, Baur JA, Boyd AR, de Cabo R, Fernandez E, Flurkey K, Javors MA, Nelson JF, Orihuela CJ, Pletcher S, Sharp ZD, Sinclair D, Starnes JW, Wilkinson JE, Nadon NL, Strong R (2011) Rapamycin, but not resveratrol or simvastatin, extends life span of genetically heterogeneous mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 66:191-201
- 123. Mitchell SJ, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Longo DL, de Cabo R (2015) Animal models of aging research: implications for human aging and age-related diseases. Annu Rev Anim Biosci 3:283-303
- 124. Moeller AH, Suzuki TA, Phifer-Rixey M, Nachman MW (2018) Transmission modes of the mammalian gut microbiota. Science 362:453-457
- 125. Morley JE, Mooradian AD, Silver AJ, Heber D, Alfin-Slater RB (1988) Nutrition in the elderly. Ann Intern Med 109:890-904
- 126. Nagpal R, Mainali R, Ahmadi S, Wang S, Singh R, Kavanagh K, Kitzman DW, Kushugulova A, Marotta F, Yadav H (2018) Gut microbiome and aging: Physiological and mechanistic insights. Nutr Healthy Aging 4:267-285
- 127. Nelson WG, De Marzo AM, DeWeese TL, Isaacs WB (2004) The role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of prostate cancer. J Urol 172:S6-11; discussion S11-12
- 128. Nguyen TL, Vieira-Silva S, Liston A, Raes J (2015) How informative is the mouse for human gut microbiota research? Dis Model Mech 8:1-16
- 129. Niswender KD, Shiota M, Postic C, Cherrington AD, Magnuson MA (1997) Effects of increased glucokinase gene copy number on glucose homeostasis and hepatic glucose metabolism. J Biol Chem 272:22570-22575
- 130. Omodei D, Fontana L (2011) Calorie restriction and prevention of age-associated chronic disease. FEBS Lett 585:1537-1542

- 131. Pan SY, DesMeules M, Morrison H, Wen SW (2006) Obesity, high energy intake, lack of physical activity, and the risk of kidney cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15:2453-2460
- 132. Panici JA, Harper JM, Miller RA, Bartke A, Spong A, Masternak MM (2010) Early life growth hormone treatment shortens longevity and decreases cellular stress resistance in long-lived mutant mice. FASEB J 24:5073-5079
- 133. Pelaseyed T, Bergstrom JH, Gustafsson JK, Ermund A, Birchenough GM, Schutte A, van der Post S, Svensson F, Rodriguez-Pineiro AM, Nystrom EE, Wising C, Johansson ME, Hansson GC (2014) The mucus and mucins of the goblet cells and enterocytes provide the first defense line of the gastrointestinal tract and interact with the immune system. Immunol Rev 260:8-20
- 134. Pierre JF, Busch RA, Kudsk KA (2016) The gastrointestinal immune system: Implications for the surgical patient. Curr Probl Surg 53:11-47
- 135. Png CW, Linden SK, Gilshenan KS, Zoetendal EG, McSweeney CS, Sly LI, McGuckin MA, Florin TH (2010) Mucolytic bacteria with increased prevalence in IBD mucosa augment in vitro utilization of mucin by other bacteria. Am J Gastroenterol 105:2420-2428
- 136. Pradhan AD, Manson JE, Rifai N, Buring JE, Ridker PM (2001) C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 286:327-334
- Quast C, Pruesse E, Yilmaz P, Gerken J, Schweer T, Yarza P, Peplies J, Glockner FO (2013) The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. Nucleic Acids Res 41:D590-596
- 138. Racette SB, Weiss EP, Villareal DT, Arif H, Steger-May K, Schechtman KB, Fontana L, Klein S, Holloszy JO, Washington University School of Medicine CG (2006) One year of caloric restriction in humans: feasibility and effects on body composition and abdominal adipose tissue. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 61:943-950
- 139. Rodriguez JM, Murphy K, Stanton C, Ross RP, Kober OI, Juge N, Avershina E, Rudi K, Narbad A, Jenmalm MC, Marchesi JR, Collado MC (2015) The composition of the gut microbiota throughout life, with an emphasis on early life. Microb Ecol Health Dis 26:26050
- 140. Rogier EW, Frantz AL, Bruno ME, Wedlund L, Cohen DA, Stromberg AJ, Kaetzel CS (2014) Secretory antibodies in breast milk promote long-term intestinal homeostasis by regulating the gut microbiota and host gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:3074-3079
- Romanick MA, Rakoczy SG, Brown-Borg HM (2004) Long-lived Ames dwarf mouse exhibits increased antioxidant defense in skeletal muscle. Mech Ageing Dev 125:269-281
- 142. Salazar N, Valdes-Varela L, Gonzalez S, Gueimonde M, de Los Reyes-Gavilan CG (2017) Nutrition and the gut microbiome in the elderly. Gut Microbes 8:82-97
- 143. Santoleri D, Titchenell PM (2019) Resolving the Paradox of Hepatic Insulin Resistance. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 7:447-456
- 144. Schaible R GJAndmG (1961) A new dwarf mouse. Genetics

- 145. Scheperjans F, Aho V, Pereira PA, Koskinen K, Paulin L, Pekkonen E, Haapaniemi E, Kaakkola S, Eerola-Rautio J, Pohja M, Kinnunen E, Murros K, Auvinen P (2015) Gut microbiota are related to Parkinson's disease and clinical phenotype. Mov Disord 30:350-358
- 146. Schwiertz A, Spiegel J, Dillmann U, Grundmann D, Burmann J, Fassbender K, Schafer KH, Unger MM (2018) Fecal markers of intestinal inflammation and intestinal permeability are elevated in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 50:104-107
- 147. Segata N, Izard J, Waldron L, Gevers D, Miropolsky L, Garrett WS, Huttenhower C (2011) Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. Genome Biol 12:R60
- 148. Shoemark DK, Allen SJ (2015) The microbiome and disease: reviewing the links between the oral microbiome, aging, and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 43:725-738
- 149. Shreiner AB, Kao JY, Young VB (2015) The gut microbiome in health and in disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 31:69-75
- 150. Smith BJ, Miller RA, Ericsson AC, Harrison DC, Strong R, Schmidt TM (2019) Changes in the gut microbiome and fermentation products concurrent with enhanced longevity in acarbose-treated mice. BMC Microbiol 19:130
- 151. Smith HF, Parker, W., Kotzé, S.H. & Laurin, M. (2013) Multiple independent appearances of the cecal appendix in mammalian evolution and an investigation of related ecological and anatomical factors. Elsevier
- 152. Sornson MW, Wu W, Dasen JS, Flynn SE, Norman DJ, O'Connell SM, Gukovsky I, Carriere C, Ryan AK, Miller AP, Zuo L, Gleiberman AS, Andersen B, Beamer WG, Rosenfeld MG (1996) Pituitary lineage determination by the Prophet of Pit-1 homeodomain factor defective in Ames dwarfism. Nature 384:327-333
- 153. Spychala MS, Venna VR, Jandzinski M, Doran SJ, Durgan DJ, Ganesh BP, Ajami NJ, Putluri N, Graf J, Bryan RM, McCullough LD (2018) Age-related changes in the gut microbiota influence systemic inflammation and stroke outcome. Ann Neurol 84:23-36
- 154. Stappenbeck TS, Virgin HW (2016) Accounting for reciprocal host-microbiome interactions in experimental science. Nature 534:191-199
- 155. Steele R, Wall JS, De Bodo RC, Altszuler N (1956) Measurement of size and turnover rate of body glucose pool by the isotope dilution method. Am J Physiol 187:15-24
- 156. Tam CS, Xie W, Johnson WD, Cefalu WT, Redman LM, Ravussin E (2012) Defining insulin resistance from hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps. Diabetes Care 35:1605-1610
- 157. Tatar M, Bartke A, Antebi A (2003) The endocrine regulation of aging by insulin-like signals. Science 299:1346-1351
- 158. Team RC (2008). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL <u>http://www.R-project.org</u>.

- 159. Thavagnanam S, Fleming J, Bromley A, Shields MD, Cardwell CR (2008) A metaanalysis of the association between Caesarean section and childhood asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 38:629-633
- 160. Uesaka T, Young HM, Pachnis V, Enomoto H (2016) Development of the intrinsic and extrinsic innervation of the gut. Dev Biol 417:158-167
- 161. Umar S (2010) Intestinal stem cells. Curr Gastroenterol Rep 12:340-348
- 162. Unger MM, Spiegel J, Dillmann KU, Grundmann D, Philippeit H, Burmann J, Fassbender K, Schwiertz A, Schafer KH (2016) Short chain fatty acids and gut microbiota differ between patients with Parkinson's disease and age-matched controls. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 32:66-72
- 163. van der Flier LG, Clevers H (2009) Stem cells, self-renewal, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. Annu Rev Physiol 71:241-260
- 164. Wang Q, Garrity GM, Tiedje JM, Cole JR (2007) Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:5261-5267
- 165. Wang S, Huang M, You X, Zhao J, Chen L, Wang L, Luo Y, Chen Y (2018) Gut microbiota mediates the anti-obesity effect of calorie restriction in mice. Sci Rep 8:13037
- Wang Z, Al-Regaiey KA, Masternak MM, Bartke A (2006) Adipocytokines and lipid levels in Ames dwarf and calorie-restricted mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 61:323-331
- 167. Weindruch R, Walford RL, Fligiel S, Guthrie D (1986) The retardation of aging in mice by dietary restriction: longevity, cancer, immunity and lifetime energy intake. J Nutr 116:641-654
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW, Jr. (2003) Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 112:1796-1808
- 169. Westbrook R, Bonkowski MS, Strader AD, Bartke A (2009) Alterations in oxygen consumption, respiratory quotient, and heat production in long-lived GHRKO and Ames dwarf mice, and short-lived bGH transgenic mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 64:443-451
- 170. Westbrook R, Bonkowski MS, Arum O, Strader AD, Bartke A (2014) Metabolic alterations due to caloric restriction and every other day feeding in normal and growth hormone receptor knockout mice. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 69:25-33
- 171. Wiesenborn DS, Ayala JE, King E, Masternak MM (2014a) Insulin sensitivity in longliving Ames dwarf mice. Age (Dordr) 36:9709
- 172. Wiesenborn DS, Menon V, Zhi X, Do A, Gesing A, Wang Z, Bartke A, Altomare DA, Masternak MM (2014b) The effect of calorie restriction on insulin signaling in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue of Ames dwarf mice. Aging (Albany NY) 6:900-912

- 173. Wiesenborn DS, Galvez EJC, Spinel L, Victoria B, Allen B, Schneider A, Gesing A, Al-Regaiey KA, Strowig T, Schafer KH, Masternak MM (2019) The role of Ames dwarfism and calorie restriction on gut microbiota. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci
- 174. Wijsman CA, Mooijaart SP, Westendorp RG, Maier AB (2012) Responsiveness of the innate immune system and glucose concentrations in the oldest old. Age (Dordr) 34:983-986
- 175. Willerson JT, Ridker PM (2004) Inflammation as a cardiovascular risk factor. Circulation 109:II2-10
- 176. Witte AV, Fobker M, Gellner R, Knecht S, Floel A (2009) Caloric restriction improves memory in elderly humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:1255-1260
- 177. Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Dominguez-Bello MG, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Baldassano RN, Anokhin AP, Heath AC, Warner B, Reeder J, Kuczynski J, Caporaso JG, Lozupone CA, Lauber C, Clemente JC, Knights D, Knight R, Gordon JI (2012) Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. Nature 486:222-227
- 178. Yu ZT, Chen C, Newburg DS (2013) Utilization of major fucosylated and sialylated human milk oligosaccharides by isolated human gut microbes. Glycobiology 23:1281-1292
- 179. Zhang H, DiBaise JK, Zuccolo A, Kudrna D, Braidotti M, Yu Y, Parameswaran P, Crowell MD, Wing R, Rittmann BE, Krajmalnik-Brown R (2009) Human gut microbiota in obesity and after gastric bypass. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:2365-2370
- Zhang Z, Geng J, Tang X, Fan H, Xu J, Wen X, Ma ZS, Shi P (2014) Spatial heterogeneity and co-occurrence patterns of human mucosal-associated intestinal microbiota. ISME J 8:881-893

## 8. Authors List of Publications

2019	The Role of Ames Dwarfism and Calorie Restriction on Gut Microbiota.
	<i>Wiesenborn DS</i> , Gálvez EJC, Spinel L, Victoria B, Allen B, Schneider A, Gesing A, Al-Regaiey KA, Strowig T, Schäfer KH, Masternak MM. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2020 Jun 18;75(7):e1-e8. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glz236.
2017	The role of transplanted visceral fat from the long-lived growth hormone receptor knockout mice on insulin signaling.
	Bennis MT, Schneider A, Victoria B, Do A, <b>Wiesenborn DS</b> , Spinel L, Gesing A, Kopchick JJ, Siddiqi SA, Masternak MM. Geroscience. 2017 Feb;39(1):51-59. doi: 10.1007/s11357-017- 9957-y. Epub 2017 Jan 18.
2016	A Long-lived Mouse Lacking Both Growth Hormone and Growth Hormone Receptor: A New Animal Model for Aging Studies.
	Gesing A, <b>Wiesenborn D</b> , Do A, Menon V, Schneider A, Victoria B, Stout MB, Kopchick JJ, Bartke A, Masternak MM. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2016 Sep 29. pii: glw193.
2015	<u>Thyroxine modifies the effects of growth hormone in Ames dwarf</u> mice.
	Do A, Menon V, Zhi X, Gesing A, <b>Wiesenborn DS</b> , Spong A, Sun L, Bartke A, Masternak MM. Aging (Albany NY). 2015 Apr;7(4):241-55.
2014	The effect of calorie restriction on insulin signaling in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue of Ames dwarf mice.
	<i>Wiesenborn DS,</i> Menon V, Zhi X, Do A, Gesing A, Wang Z, Bartke A, Altomare DA, Masternak MM. Aging (Albany NY). 2014 Oct;6(10):900-12.
2014	Insulin sensitivity in long-living Ames dwarf mice.
	<b>Wiesenborn DS</b> , Ayala JE, King E, Masternak MM. Age (Dordr). 2014;36(5):9709. doi: 10.1007/s11357-014-9709-1. Epub 2014 Aug 29.

## 9. Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to my supervisors Prof. Dr. Karl-Herbert Schäfer and Prof. Dr. Michal Masternak for giving me the opportunity to complete my PhD thesis in their laboratories at the University of Applied Sciences in Zweibrücken and at the University of Central Florida. I would like to thank you both for your patience, motivation, guidance, enormous research knowledge and continuous support throughout my entire PhD thesis. I'm very grateful to you for taking me to this point of my academic and research accomplishment and for your contributions to my educational career.

In addition, I want to give a special thanks to Prof. Dr. Gerald Thiel for his assessment of this thesis.

Furthermore, I would like to thank our collaborators at the Helmholtz Centre for Infection Research in Braunschweig, Prof. Dr. Till Strowig and Dr. Eric Galvez and at the Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute, Julio Ayala and Emily King, for their valuable contributions towards the successful completion of this dissertation.

I would like to thank all the laboratory colleagues, who I had the pleasure of working with during my entire time at the University of Applied Sciences in Zweibrücken and at the University of Central Florida. Moreover, I would like to especially thank my laboratory colleagues Lina Spinel, Dr. Berta Victoria, Dr. Brittany Allen, Dr. Augusto Schneider and Dr. Vinal Menon for their constant help, support and sharing their expertise whenever it was needed.

My deepest gratitude belongs to my parents Hans und Angela, my sister Nadine, my brotherin-law Steffen, my nephew Fineas, my niece Nevia, my uncle Friedrich and my grandparents Ida and (†) Erich, for always believing in me, for their boundless support and encouragement throughout my life and especially during this thesis. I would like to especially thank my sister Nadine, who always fully supported me throughout my academic carrier and I couldn't imagine a better sister than you. I am very grateful to have you all as family in my life.

And most importantly, I would like to give a special thanks to my lovely life partner Günther, for providing me with unfailing support, continuous motivation and always believing in me through the entire time of researching and writing this PhD thesis. Günther, you gave me the strength when I needed it the most and you have always supported me to achieve my

## Acknowledgement

professional goals, although those goals sometimes meant being apart for a while. Your unconditional backing, understanding and love are beyond that what words can express, while I spent day and night working on this dissertation. Thank you for all you have done for me!

This accomplishment of my PhD dissertation would not have been possible without any of you and especially not without my family.

Thank you again to everyone!